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Minister’s Foreword

We are writing this foreword on the occasion of the nfvf’s 
10th anniversary. it is also the end of term for the nfvf’s 
council under the leadership of ms. charlotte mampane. We 
take this opportunity to congratulate the outgoing council and 
its management for a sterling job in reaching some critical 
milestones geared at the development of the south african 
audiovisual industry. 

We note the successful launch of the south african film 
and television awards (safta) in 2005. the awards seek to 
appraise and honour excellence in the film and television 
industry. in 2010 the safta’s were hosted successively for 
the fourth time, which augers well for the development of 
the audiovisual industry in south africa. sediba, the nfvf’s 
flagship skills development programme continues to do exploits 
in the industry and has added a new dimension by introducing, 
in 2009, an advanced international financing programme 
directed at experienced producers in television drama and 
feature film products. We are hoping that this programme will 
soon be able to bear fruits. it is time south africa produces a 
definitive movie.

it is within this anniversary that we have seen the signing of 
co-production treaties with a number of countries, starting 
with canada in 1997, italy in 2003, germany in 2005 and 
the united Kingdom in 2007. We have recently signed two 
more co-production treaties with france and australia and 
two are in the pipeline with new Zealand and ireland. We are 
currently working on a first african co-production treaty with 
algeria informed by the recent presidential visit to algeria. co-
production treaties are signed by national governments in order 
to promote and facilitate cultural exchanges and collaborations 
amongst audio visual industries, aiming to promote and nurture 
the local industry by defining the rules of engagement in the 
mobilisation of resources especially access to public funds. 
We urge the audiovisual industry to judiciously utilize these 
instruments to maximize the impact of the sector. treaties alone 
do not produce films, but future dynamic interaction between 
producers creates possibilities of strong business relations.

in 2009 we saw the launch of the nfvf’s new ventures division 
geared at distribution. skin was the movie used as a pilot for this 

1. foreWord by minister  
 of arts and culture
 ms. lulu XingWana
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 Ms. LuLu Xingwana

division. skin is a co-production film between the united 
Kingdom and south africa. We believe by strengthening 
different facets of our value chain will place us in the 
forefront of preserving our culture, creating decent 
work and sustainable livelihoods which remain our core 
focus. We hope that informed interventions will give rise 
to concrete platforms and frameworks that will aptly 
give expression to our strategic thrusts and put together 
mechanisms that would help us compete with the best in 
the world, develop audiences, foster appreciation for our 
home grown talent and strengthen enterprises within the 
sector. it is critical that we arrest the trend which has seen 
us as the top thirteen net importers in the world of filmed 
entertainment as alluded to in the nfvf*s business case, 
by producing more local film products and securing more 
space for them locally.

We beseech the industry and the people of south africa 
to jealously guard the independence of the nfvf and 
ensure that it carries out its mandate without fear or 
favour. We are resolute in ensuring that this sector 
contributes to the national imperatives of developing and 
promoting the arts, culture and heritage sectors in south 
africa and mainstreaming its role in social development. 
to be a platform through which the development and 
promotion of the official languages of south africa and the 
enhancement of the linguistic diversity of our country can 
be carried out; thereby, improving economic and other 
development opportunities for south african cinema and 
the broader audiovisual industries.

having reached the 10th anniversary milestone, it’s 
opportune that we conduct an impact assessment that 
will look at a number of issues pertinent to the growth 
and development of the industry. We will primarily look at 
institutional blockages to the value chain efficiencies and 
where institutional failure is now and in the future, that is 
hampering growth and development. in completing the 
impact assessment of the nfvf we will further focus on 
establishing greater monitoring and evaluation, research, 
benchmarking and planning capabilities. We will revive 
our sectoral policy and strategy framework stated by 

the creative industries growth strategy (cigs) to inform 
spatial and nodal development path. it has become clear 
that the absence of a growth trajectory policy and strategy 
framework shapes inadequate leadership to institutional 
linkages and efficiency.

in conclusion as the ministry of arts and culture, we 
believe that arts, culture and heritage are the cornerstone, 
the soul and the architect of our nation. arts, culture 
and heritage have an important role to play in shaping 
our identity as a nation - a nation united in diversity, a 
nation that has overcome adversity and a nation founded 
on the noble principles of equality and human dignity for 
all. the challenge we face, going forward, is to continue 
highlighting the social, political and economic contribution 
of the cultural industries and ensure that it is given the 
prominence it deserves. this must go hand in hand with 
the development of concrete programmes which seek to 
elevate the role of the arts, culture and heritage as well as 
practitioners in this field. 

as the department of arts and culture, we have set 
ourselves the objective of continuing to engage with 
practitioners in this sector, including its luminaries. 
this we are doing with a view to ensure that this sector 
contributes to the national effort to build social cohesion 
and social justice. it is our hope that when we have fully 
engaged with the sector, a new vision will emerge that 
will set us on a course to success. this success must 
be underpinned by mechanisms that would help us to 
compete with the best in the world, to develop audiences, 
foster appreciation for our distinctly home grown talent 
and strengthen the audiovisual sector to mirror the true 
south african culture.

Ms. Lulu Xingwana, MP
minister of arts and culture
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Message FroM Chairperson

i am grateful for the opportunity granted me to serve on the 
council of the national film and video foundation (nfvf), an 
institution that is the product of our new democracy, tasked 
with the transformation of our content industries. i have had an 
opportunity to serve two terms on the council, the last three years 
as chairperson. When i was first appointed and after reading 
through the nfvf act, going through section 3, i realised that 
the drafters of the act had the total transformation of the sector 
in mind rather than just a funding agency in establishing the 
nfvf. for ease of reference, the objects of the foundation are 
as follows:

a) to develop and promote the film and video industry;
b) to provide and encourage the provision of opportunities for 

persons, especially from disadvantaged communities to get 
involved in the film and video industry;

c) to encourage the development and distribution of local film 
and video product;

d) to support the nurturing and development of and access to 
the film and video industry; and

e) in respect of the film and video industry, to address 
historical imbalances in the infrastructure and distribution 
of skills and resources

section 3 a); b); d) and e), directly puts the nfvf in the forefront 
of transformation and bringing those previously marginalised by 
past government policies to the mainstream of the industry. as 
we reflect on the past ten years and for me personally, the past 
six years, in particular my last three years as chairperson, we 
need to ask, how far have we gone in taking our industry to 
where the act wants us to be? if there has been any movement 
forward, what are the obstacles and how do we all as a collective 
address these?

The Charter talks to the demands on the 
NFVF and the required societal impact 
which prescribe appropriate standing, 

structure and capacity.

the value charter has guided the council, the blueprint 
developed by the inaugural council and subsequently adopted 

2. message from    
 chairperson
 ms c mampane 
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by the two councils i have served on and most importantly 
the film indaba in 2005. the value charter positions the 
nfvf as a mediator between the interest of the state, 
the industry and the general south african public. the 
charter talks to the demands on the nfvf and the 
required societal impact which prescribe appropriate 
standing, structure and capacity. 

it illustrates the comparison between the current situation 
and the desired situation. the essence of the desired 
situation is that the inputs must produce the desired 
outcomes as green field effects, sufficient to create a 
societal impact threshold and critical mass. the nfvf 
business machinery currently operates on 25% of the 
budgetary allocation. to keep to this quota and yet 
produce the critical societal impact, the inputs must 
be increased. this increase in inputs can be achieved 
through the creation of synergy with the key role players 
across government and industry, with the nfvf as a 
broker. i am pleased to report that the relationship that has 
developed between the nfvf; the department of trade 
and industry (the dti); the independent development 
corporation (idc) and industry representative bodies, is 
testimony to this effort.

in all its business dealings, the nfvf council and 
staff have been guided by another unique philosophy 
developed within the value charter - the moral imperative, 
which says, “it is a national imperative to create 
facilities for ordinary south africans to bear influence 
in the expression of their own images, thereby deepen 
democracy and create prosperity. the national film and 
video foundation strive for the realisation of this noble 
ideal.” i believe the council, management and staff have 
all internalised this philosophy and it is reflected in the 
good standing the nfvf enjoys in the public eye and 
among other state institutions that impact on the content 
industries. my only regret is that, despite all the effort, 
we never managed to get the national cabinet to adopt 
the value charter as a programme for the development 
of our content industries. i would encourage the new 
council that will be appointed for the next term, to pursue 

this initiative as it is key in addressing the “appropriate 
standing, structure and capacity” of the nfvf as 
envisaged by the charter.

We will be handing over to the new 
Council an institution with a track 
record both in the delivery of service 
but also of having handled the South 
African taxpayer finances well in line 
with the Public Finance Management 

Act (PFMA). 

as a departing chairperson and as i hand over the reigns, 
i am happy to report that together with the incumbent 
council, we have continued with the noble tradition left 
by those who came before us of maintaining a set of 
unqualified audit reports of the past ten years. We will be 
handing over to the new council an institution with a track 
record both in the delivery of service but also of having 
handled the south african taxpayer finances well in line 
with the public finance management act (pfma). 

the nfvf’s sediba skills development programme 
incorporating script development and producer’s 
programmes are beginning to have an impact in the film 
and television industry. the quality of scripts developed 
within the programme  are capable of attracting investment 
to our sector as they are sought after by international 
financiers and sales agents. these programmes bear 
testimony to the findings of the study, “investigation into 
the feasibility of establishing a national film school – 
towards a national film education and training strategy” 
conducted by the nfvf and funded by the department of 
arts and culture (dac). the study confirms a need for the 
establishment of a national film school to provide training 
that is transformative in order to achieve the objects of the 
act as articulated above.

in my previous report, i touched on issues of compliance 
and wish to reiterate that:
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Message FroM Chairperson

•	 the nfvf has an effective and efficient audit 
committee, consisting of 2 council members and 3 
external members. all the members possess extensive 
film and financial experience.

•	 the nfvf has also developed an effective 
performance management system that will assist the 
nfvf in monitoring and managing both employee 
and organisational performance.

•	 the nfvf boasts a fully functional internal audit that 
has completed the following:   
•	  risk assessment workshop and risk register
•	  3 year rolling internal audit plan
•	  4 internal audits, including, financial discipline 

review,  funding and marketing audits.

“The consolidation and rationalization 
of the gains made to date, together with 
taking the NFVF to the citizens, thus 
mobilizing society around the potency 

of moving images”

my other regret is that the nfvf council never had an 
opportunity to physically present its previous annual report 
to parliament. this lack of interaction denies the nfvf an 
opportunity to interact and account to parliament even if 
it is all good work that the institution has to communicate.

in the previous annual report, the nfvf ceo reported 
on the council having taken into consideration the 
strategic principle of the nfvf as a “long range 
ongoing concern”. the council having decided to build 
on the strategic thrust of the previous two councils, it 
decided on a strategic thrust of “the consolidation and 
rationalization of the gains made to date, together with 
taking the nfvf to the citizens, thus mobilizing society 
around the potency of moving images”

consolidation and rationalisation 
of the sector

this thrust will be achieved through putting in place 
socioeconomic indicators and measures of the sector in 
line with the following dimensions:
•	 the value chain according to the established standard 

industrial classification (sic) categories.
•	 the convergence paradigm of the ict sector.

•	 investment and capitalization of the sector including 
supply side measures such as physical and social 
infrastructure, human capital, accumulation of 
inventories, to mention a few. 

taKing the nfvf to the citiZens

film is the medium used to promote identities, the 
reproduction and the packaging of stories, and the 
preservation of moments of time and space. this function 
of film and video will form the basis for taking the nfvf 
to the citizens. the nfvf realises that the reason why 
most people do not have access to the film sector is the 
paucity of technical skills and the legal organisational 
styles that are alien to most  people. e.g. how to start and 
run an incorporated business in terms of the companies 
act.

the nfvf will explore the emerging organisational legal 
forms that are friendly to most marginalised people such 
as the cooperative act to formalise the informal sector 
into sme’s

critical to taking the nfvf to the citizens is the 
demonstration of the power of film to create jobs, 
poverty alleviation and rural development in line with the 
priorities of the current government administration.
  
i would like to conclude by thanking all my colleagues on 
the council who have provided me with the support to 
lead this institution during our term of office. i would like 
to thank dr pallo Jordan and ms ntombazana botha who 
appointed me chairperson and gave me an opportunity 
to work with some of the great minds in our industry. i 
would like to thank minister lulu Xingwana and deputy 
minister paul mashatile, who even though they came half 
way through the term of our office, nevertheless gave the 
desired attention to the work of the foundation. as far as 
i can remember, during my six years in the council, we 
have never had so much interaction with the minister of 
arts and culture as we have done with minister Xingwana.

Ms. C Mampane
chairperson
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3. mission statement

vision

a south african film and video industry that mirrors and represents the nation, sustains commercial 
viability, encourages development and provides a medium through which the creative and technical 

talents of south africans are able to reach the world.

mission

to create an environment that develops and promotes the south african film and video industry 
domestically and internationally.

moral imperative

it is a national imperative to create facilities for ordinary south africans to bear influence in the 
expression of their own image, thereby deepening democracy and creating prosperity. the national 

film and video foundation strives for this noble ideal.

values

creativity
freedom of expression

entrepreneurship
equitable redress

Mission stateMent
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the national film and video foundation (nfvf) is governed by the national film and video foundation act 73 of 1997 
as amended by cultural laws amendment act 36 of 2001. 

the mandate of the nfvf is:

•	 to promote and develop the film and video industry 
•	 to provide and encourage the provision of opportunities for persons, especially from disadvantaged communities to get 

involved in the film and video industry
•	 to encourage the development and distribution of local film and video products
•	 to support the nurturing and development of access to the film and video industry
•	 to address historical imbalances in the infrastructure and distribution of skills and resources in the film and video 

industry

in order to achieve these ideals the nfvf has developed the value charter which is the strategic interpretation of the nfvf 
act. the value charter outlines the following mission critical strategic initiatives:

•	 development of a sectoral information system (sis), measure of aggregation and Key performance indicators (Kpi’s) 
for the film sector

•	 demand stimulation and audience development
•	 production of local genre and content
•	 global positioning of the south african film industry
•	 capital formation, infrastructure and facilities development
•	 human capital development, education and training
•	 establishment of the trading entity in terms of paragraph 27 of the cultural laws amendment act 36 of 2001
•	 the nfvf empowerment, talent incubation and funding initiative
•	 intergovernmental and stakeholder relations

4. legislative mandate

LegisLative Mandate
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aCCounting oFFiCer’s report - Mr eddie MbaLo

as i sit to write this report, which is possibly the last as an 
incumbent ceo, i can’t but think of the early days as a member 
of the inaugural council of the nfvf. at the time, i was the 
head of current affairs at the then fledgling first free-to-air 
commercial broadcaster ushered in by our new democracy. 
the nfvf as an institution was one of those transformative 
instruments in our media space that was a product of that new 
dispensation. i am thankful to our visionary leadership in the 
new south african dispensation for establishing the institutional 
base, the nfvf to enable us the lovers of cinema to develop, 
grow ourselves and to mentor young talent.

the inaugural council brought multidisciplinary skills ranging 
from hard core film and video skills, business skills, industry 
development and community participation, to name a few. 
the diverse backgrounds would ensure fair representation of 
various stakeholders and other interest groups. the challenge of 
equitable redress of the previously disadvantaged communities 
and individuals, the address of the structural imbalance 
throughout the value chain featured high on the agenda of the 
council. the thrust of the first council centred on “strategy as 
a collective co-creation through learning enterprise.”  i would 
like to thank the inaugural chairperson, mr shan moodley, for 
his sterling work in guiding the nfvf through this particular 
period. as part of our celebration of the nfvf’s 10 years, we 
have installed an honours board, to recognise those members 
of the council and executive management who have served 
the institution with distinction. We hope this honour will be 
extended to all those who will continue into the future. i wish 
to acknowledge then minister, dr. ben ngubane and deputy 
minister, mrs bridget mabandla for the groundbreaking 
contribution they made towards the development and growth of 
the cultural industries and the film sector. 

The challenge of equitable redress of the 
previously disadvantaged communities and 

individuals, the address of the structural 
imbalance throughout the value chain 

featured high on the agenda of the council.

5. accounting officer’s  
 report 
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Dr Ben Ngubane’s passion about the NFVF and its 
cause provided us with energy, faith and confidence to 
establish the NFVF to be one of the institutions that all 
South Africans would be proud of. 

through the Cultural Industries Growth Strategy (CIGS) 
they provided the arts and culture sector with a tool that 
would guide the development of our sectoral strategies. it 
was also during this period that a special 3 year allocation 
of r35million towards development of feature films, saw 
the highest volume of locally produced films that went to 
win top awards internationally in the post apartheid south 
africa. mrs mabandla went on to become the minister 
of Justice and constitutional development in the period 
2004 - 2009.

Minister Brigette Mabandla infused in us that 
unassuming mystical humble character, yet perceptive 
of substantive strategic issues that needed to be tackled 
by the NFVF and this sector. Her spirit is pervasive in 
our strategic documents, particularly our Value Charter. 
It was she who kept on reminding us to demystify the 
film media so that the citizenry of this country may not 
be intimidated by it.

i would like to acknowledge dr pallo Z Jordan who as 
minister of arts and culture, from his first day in office 
took an active interest in the activities of the nfvf. it 
was reassuring that within the ministry, support for the 
film industry was to receive priority. dr Jordan brought 
with him profound understanding of culture and the 
role of cultural industries in economic development 
and the realisation of national imperatives.  dr Jordan 
together with mrs buyelwa sonjica who later became the 
minister of minerals and energy, and deputy minister, ms 
ntombazana botha had the responsibility of overseeing 
the separation of science and technology from the 
department of arts, culture, science and technology 
into a fully-fledged department of arts and culture. dr 
pallo Jordan also oversaw the appointment of the second 
council of the nfvf with mr mfundi vundla appointed as 
chairperson. the council under mr vundla’s leadership 

focussed on the strategic thrust of “political management 
and advocacy” on behalf of the industry. 

Minister Sonjica’s forthright approach, provided us with 
assurance that the NFVF continues to enjoy the political 
support at the highest levels in government.

it was during the term of dr pallo Jordan as minister and 
mr vundla as chairperson that south africa was honoured 
first with an oscar nomination for darrell roodt’s Yesterday 
and four nominations for terry george’s Hotel Rwanda. in 
the same year, U’Carmen eKhayelitsha by mark danford-
may won the best film at the berlin international film 
festival. this prompted minister Jordan to declare to the 
south african parliament: “south african film has come 
of age”.

in the 2002 annual report, the then minister dr ben 
ngubane said, “the estimated size of the worldwide 
convergence market of entertainment and information 
and communication technologies (ict) is $386 billion, 
which translates roughly into r3,8 trillion. south africa’s 
entertainment industry accounts for an insignificant share 
of 0.3 to 0.5 of this wealth.”

the share of the south african entertainment industries 
mentioned above does not only indicate the insignificant 
position of our cultural industries in economic terms. it 
is also an indication of the state of our cultural identity 
position and stature in the world. the figures are by and 
large a reflection of our oppressive colonial and apartheid 
past when the majority of our people were systematically 
denied freedom of expression and action. 

It is still the wish that the Value 
Charter is recognised as the blueprint 

for the development of the South 
African film sector.

previous years’ annual reports of the nfvf show that the 
foundation has over the past years galvanised consensus 
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aCCounting oFFiCer’s report

about the strategic direction for south africa. the nfvf’s 
value charter indicates the crosscutting strategic issues 
that require national attention.  it is also true that during 
this period, a lot of what is articulated and the programmes 
developed out of the value charter have borne some 
successes. it is still my wish that the value charter is 
recognised as the blueprint for the development of the 
south african film sector.

in line with the strategic thrust initiated over the past years 
the nfvf’s activities have focused on: 

•	 Investment: mobilise foreign and local investment
•	 Assets: to identify, continuously assess and appreciate 

the value of national resources - locations, talent, 
crew, facilities

•	 Comparative Advantage in the Global Economy: 
maintain and strive to improve national niche and 
position in the global economy

•	 Industry Restructuring: strive to integrate and optimise 
industrial base

•	 Skills base: align the development of skills to the 
national Qualifications framework 

•	 Institutional Structure: align the nfvf institutional 
structure to achieve national imperatives

•	 Consumer Base: to expand south african and 
international consumer base for local content

•	 Community Mobilisation: to mobilise social formations 
to bear influence on the sector. the nfvf shall 
solicit participation by unions, black economic 
empowerment groups, women’s empowerment 
groups, youth structures, political parties, industry 
organisations and other associations.

•	 Local market penetration: grow film market particularly 
within the previously disadvantaged communities

the nfvf and the sector have registered a number of 
achievements, which are highlighted below: 

•	 the adoption of the nfvf’s value charter at the 
industry indaba in 2005 as a document that will have 
great impact on integrating the sector.

•	 the promotion and the utilization of section 41 
of the constitution as well as the concomitant 
intergovernmental relations act, that provided some 
of the institutional artillery, that formed the currency of 
the nfvf towards the mobilization of the spheres and 

the organs of the state involved in the film sector.
•	 the promotion and utilisation of co-production 

treaties signed with canada, italy, germany and the 
united Kingdom.

•	 the international recognition of south african films 
through the oscar award for Tsotsi and nominations 
for Yesterday and Hotel Rwanda.

•	 global rush for co-producing and using the rsa as a 
location of choice.

•	 industrial development corporation (idc) media and 
motion picture unit with capitalization of more than 
r500m.

•	 department of trade and industry (dti) film 
and television production incentive scheme with 
approximately r200m annual capitalisation. 

•	 the establishment of provincial film commissions 
and other initiatives.

•	 south africa hosting about 150 filmmakers at the 
african film summit in 2006. 

•	 the development of the successful sediba skills 
development programme, incorporating sediba 
script development and the sediba producer’s 
programme. 

strategic thrust

much progress has been made as the nfvf celebrates 
ten years of its existence. the nfvf has proved that 
even with limited resources significant impact has been 
achieved in terms of establishing a niche for the south 
african film industry in the global market. the past 10 
years have seen an increased number of south african 
films and talent showcased and recognized at the most 
prestigious international film festivals and markets. 
south african filmmakers and the local industry are now 
acknowledged globally as viable partners for international 
productions and co-productions. the result has been a 
considerable increase in the levels of international and 
local investment in the sector, and improved levels of 
investor confidence. 

The increased fiscal allocation into film 
is justified by the fact that the sector 
holds a huge potential to national 

prerogatives such as job creation, global 
cash and skills flows.
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to maintain this momentum and to increase the economic 
impact of these investments, the levels of private and 
public sector investment will have to increase in the areas 
of infrastructure and skills development. the increased 
fiscal allocation into film is justified by the fact that the 
sector holds a huge potential to national prerogatives 
such as job creation, global cash and skills flows. 

it is estimated that 25 feature films of an average of 
r 20 million each can produce 1 200 direct jobs, a further 
4 000 indirect jobs in performing arts, extras, catering, 
accommodation, hospitality, leisure and car rental. this 
makes our sector one of the least cost job producers. 
it is also estimated that the economic multiplier is 2.4; 
meaning that for every r1 government spends on the 
film industry, there is a resultant turn over of r2.4 to the 
economy (gdp).

the collaboration by the nfvf, the department of arts 
and culture, the department of communication and the 
department of trade and industry, the south african 
revenue services to formulate the south african content 
industries strategy must be commended for two reasons. 
firstly, that the collaboration resulted in a strategy that 
the national cabinet approved in december 2003.
secondly, the collaborative effort was a great lesson on 
intergovernmental collaboration. the department of 
trade and industry went to introduce the south african 
film and television production incentive to promote 
foreign production in south africa.

one of the challenges that faces south africa and 
the nfvf is to address the problem of fragmentation 
within the film industry. fragmentation impedes rapid 
implementation of initiatives. We have learned that 
effective collaboration can only happen when appropriate 
systems and processes are in place, and it takes time to 
create these. We hope that our efforts and the consensus 
that is established between stakeholders will facilitate 
rapid growth in the film industry.

the effective implementation of the above strategic 
initiatives also requires collaboration between government 
in all its spheres and critical departments. the following 
milestones took place with regard to collaboration with 
national departments and institutions:

•	 strategy workshops with dac to formulate a 
framework for collaboration. 

•	 collaboration with the department of 
communications (doc) and the south african 
broadcasting corporation (sabc) on the production 
and support of local content.

•	 collaboration with the department of trade and 
industry (dti) and the industrial development 
corporation (idc) to develop appropriate financial 
and incentive instruments for the film industry.

•	 collaboration with trade and investment south africa 
towards a coordinated strategy to ensure that south 
african product and talent is optimally represented at 
key international events.

•	 ongoing discussions with south african tourism 
to develop a cohesive strategy between the two 
institutions on the marketing of the south african film 
sector.

i would like to thank the chairperson of council, mrs 
charlotte mampane and the deputy chairperson, mr 
monde ngonyama for their nurturing and positive role 
they have played in supporting me and the management 
in building the nfvf to be an institution that we are all 
so proud of. i would like to thank the whole of council for 
the constructive and positive engagement in the exercise 
of their fiduciary responsibilities.  

i would like to convey my gratitude to the following 
ministers and deputy minister’s of arts and culture for 
their outstanding leadership, unstinting support and 
sound advice in building a legacy for the nfvf: dr. b.s. 
ngubane, mrs brigitte mabandla, mrs buyelwa sonjica, 
dr Z pallo Jordan, ms ntombazana botha, minister 
lulama Xingwana and deputy minister paul mashatile.
 
i would also like to thank my colleagues for their support 
during my term of office as ceo and wish them well as 
they continue to guide the nfvf and industry into the 
future.
 
a thank you to all the industry players who continue to 
contribute to the transformation of the industry into a 
sector that we all desire.
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6. program performance reports

Indicator  

(Mandate)

Key objective 

(what)

Strategy (how) Output (result) Progress

3a – develop and 
promote the film 
and video industry

•	 provide 
comprehensive 
accurate information 
on the film & video 
sector

•	 globally position 
sa at strategic 
international markets 
and festivals

•	 recognition 
platforms for south 
african talent and 
product

•	 create demand for 
film product and 
stimulate the culture 
of film appreciation

•	 create awareness of 
sa film industry

•	 development of a 
research plan

•	 develop Key 
performance 
indicasztors (Kpi’s) 
for the film sector

•	 collecting industry 
research documents 

•	 to have a south 
african presence 
and build pavilions at 
targeted international 
festivals and markets 

•	 peer recognition for 
talent and product

•	 development of an 
integrated marketing 
campaign

•	 launch 
communications 
campaigns and tools

•	 published research 
documents

•	 approved Kpis for 
the film sector

•	 reliable information 
on the industry that 
is published regularly 
updated and widely 
disseminated.

•	 co-ordinated 
information gathering

•	 miptv
•	 mipcom
•	 afci
•	 toronto – no borders
•	 cannes

•	 national awards

•	 development of the 
nfvf corporate id 
and brand identity 

•	 create demand for 
film product

•	 stimulate the culture 
of film appreciation 
and cinema going 

•	 streamlining of 
corporate identity 

•	 production of 
communication and 
marketing tools

•	 film catalogue
•	 conference booklet
•	 nfvf brochures
•	 newsletter

co-production review 
has been completed.

an audience research 
study based on 
matric learners who 
watched skin has been 
completed.

a transmittal letter to 
accompany the report 
has been drafted. the 
foreword has been 
included in the  report 
into the investigation of 
establishing a national 
film school 

•	 april 2009
•	 october 09
•	 april 2009
•	 september 09
•	 may 2009

•	 awards took  place 
on 20th february 
2010

production of imc 
document
first meeting with 
stakeholders held in 
november 2009

skin audience 
development roadshow

•	 conference booklets
•	 film catalogues
•	 nfvf brochures

newsletter ongoing
nfvf logo featured in 
all marketing materials
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Indicator  

(Mandate)

Key objective 

(what)

Strategy (how) Output (result) Progress

•	 development of an 
integrated marketing 
strategy 

•	 implementation of an 
integrated marketing 
strategy 

•	 fund new and 
existing audience 
development 
and distributions 
initiatives

•	 partnering with 
stakeholders within 
the arts and culture 
industry

•	 upgrade of Website

•	 growth and 
increased diversity 
in south african 
audiences that 
have access to and 
demand for local 
content.

•	 participation at 
macufe

 
•	 participation at Wild 

talk

•	 partnership with 
diff 

•	 partnership with 
apollo film festival

•	 partnership with 
encounters festival 

•	 partnership with 
south african 
film festival in 
parliament.

•	 development of 
media relations 
and internal 
communication 
tools :

•	 press briefings
•	 media interviews 
•	 stakeholder 

meetings 

promotional material
producers handbook

attend road shows 

no participation at 
macufe

representation of nfvf 
by key staff 

taking part at diff 
as nfvf marketing, 
funding and training

partnered with 
encounters 

parliament film festival 
was postponed to 2010

ongoing media  
interviews on nfvf 
projects, interaction 
with media and 
stakeholders to build & 
strengthen relations 
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Indicator  

(Mandate)

Key objective 

(what)

Strategy (how) Output (result) Progress

3b - provide 
and encourage 
the provision of 
opportunities for 
persons especially 
from disadvantaged 
communities to get 
involved in the film 
and video industry

•	 development 
of professional 
practitioners in the 
film industry

•	 to create access 
and opportunities 
to previously 
disadvantaged 
individuals

•	 granting of bursary 
funding for entry 
level students

•	 sediba spark 
training initiative (1.5 
year programme)

•	 90% of final year 
bursary students 
graduated 

•	 90% graduated to 
the following year of 
study

•	 5 grade a writer 
graduates

•	 5 script editor 
graduates

•	 92% graduated 

•	 86% graduated to 
the following year of 
study. 

•	 these figures 
exclude 4 students 
whom one has 
not completed his 
studies and three 
more where we 
haven’t received 
final results despite 
contacting schools 
and students..

•	 in the spark 5 
programme, 23 
writers are currently 
being trained. the 
Johannesburg group 
completes in may 
and cape town 
group in august 
2010. 
the demographics 
are as follows:
bm: 48%
bf: 26%
Wm: 17%
Wf: 9%

the masters 
programme 
began on 12 & 13 
september 2009 and 
completes in august 
2010. 5 writers were 
dismissed due to the 
delivery of work that 
was below standard. 
2 writers requested 
to join the spark 
programme and 5 
writers withdrew 
from the programme 
for various reasons
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Indicator  

(Mandate)

Key objective 

(what)

Strategy (how) Output (result) Progress

•	 to facilitate industry 
& public policy 
development.

•	 globally position 
sa at strategic 
international markets 
and festivals

•	 film maker exposure

•	 support of other 
training programmes 
(eg apti)     

•	 review internal 
policies every 3 years

•	 to have a south 
african presence 
and build pavilions at 
targeted international 
festivals and markets 

•	 to promote south 
africa as a film 
making destination

•	 80% of learners 
successfully 
complete the training

•	 approved updated 
policies

•	 toronto/no borders
•	 cannes

•	 partnership with 
the provincial 
film commissions 
and provincial 
governments

the current 
demographics are:
bm: 21%
bf: 47%
Wm: 11%
Wf: 21%

•	 to date we are 
supporting the 
Wildlife film 
academy. currently, 
100% of their 
learners who are 
nfvf funded 
complete the 
training. We are 
also supporting the 
Writers guild with 
mini conferences 
held every two 
months. 

several meetings were 
held  with bowman 
gilfillan inc started in 
January and february. 
a first draft has been 
drafted for internal 
discussion. 

nfvf participated on 
doc`s local and digital 
content development 
strategy by submitting 
comments in october 
2009

participated at toronto 
09 and no borders co-
production forum in ny

participated cannes 09

hosted mipcom 
pavilion for sa 
producers attending the 
market
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Indicator  

(Mandate)

Key objective 

(what)

Strategy (how) Output (result) Progress

•	 create demand for 
film product and 
stimulate the culture 
of film appreciation

•	 create awareness of 
sa film industry

•	 development of an 
integrated marketing 
strategy 

•	 implementation of an 
integrated marketing 
strategy

•	 to promote film 
makers talent and 
films.

•	 development of an 
integrated marketing 
campaign

•	 launch 
communications 
campaigns and tools

•	 fund new and 
existing audience 
development 
and distributions 
initiatives

•	 partnering with 
stakeholders within 
the arts and culture 
industry

•	 created partnerships 
with talent 
development 
initiatives 

•	 strategic partner
•	 talent campus
•	 cinemart
•	 no boarders
•	 producers network

•	 development of the 
nfvf corporate id 
and brand identity 

•	 streamlining of 
corporate identity

•	 production of 
communication and 
marketing tools

•	 ifsa
•	 film catalogue
•	 conference booklet
•	 nfvf brochures
•	 newsletter
•	 upgrade of Website

•	 growth and 
increased diversity 
in south african 
audiences that 
have access to and 
demand for local 
content.

•	 participation at 
macufe 

•	 partnership with 
diff 

•	 partnership with 
apollo film festival

•	 partnership with 
encounters festival

•	 partnership with 
south african 
film festival in 
parliament.

film makers support to 
attend 
•	 producers networks
•	 no border co-

production forum
•	 pfm in london

promotional material
producers handbook

•	 conference booklets
•	 film catalogues
•	 nfvf brochures

newsletter ongoing
nfvf logo featured in 
all marketing materials

no participation at 
macufe

taking part at diff 
as nfvf marketing, 
funding and training

partnered with 
encounters 

parliament film festival 
was postponed to 2010
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Indicator  

(Mandate)

Key objective 

(what)

Strategy (how) Output (result) Progress

•	 coordinated 
communication

•	 development of 
media relations 
and internal 
communication 
tools:

•	 press briefings

•	 media interviews 

•	 stakeholder 
meetings

cape town stakeholder 
meeting at cannes 
media briefing 

ongoing media  
interviews on nfvf 
projects

3c - encourage 
the development 
and distribution of 
local film and video 
products

•	 a south african film 
portfolio that mirrors 
our cultural diversity

•	 provide 
comprehensive 
accurate information 
on the film & video 
sector

•	 production of 
specific genre 
films that reflect 
and develop a 
south african 
aesthetic including 
the production of 
indigenous language 
product.

•	 building and 
maintaining 
relationships with 
industry stakeholders

•	 50% of feature films 
that are green lit are 
produced.

•	 50% of 
documentaries that 
are green lit are 
produced.

•	 signing co-operation 
agreements with 
industry stakeholders

•	 10 films developed 
have been greenlit 
for production.  
one, stiff has been 
produced and is set 
for release by april.  
another, Zambezia, 
is in production to 
be completed early 
2011. the remainder 
are raising finance.

•	 2 films of of dv8 
slate produced and 
delivered, Shirley 
Adams and Izulu 
Lami

•	 10 documentaries 
greenlit for 
production 2009/10.

•	 4 are in post 
production. 
2 completed 
production and 
awaiting delivery.

the nfvf has been 
invited to accompany 
the dac to france on 
an return visit  after 
a vist by the french 
delegation in 2009. 
drafts 8 and 9 of the 
sa/france treat were 
exchanged during 
between the cnc and 
nfvf. comments were 
received from the state 
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Indicator  

(Mandate)

Key objective 

(what)

Strategy (how) Output (result) Progress

•	 create exposure 
platforms

•	 film maker exposure

•	 create demand for 
film product and 
stimulate the culture 
of film appreciation

•	 create awareness of 
sa film industry

•	 to promote south 
africa as partner for 
co-production

•	 to promote south 
africa as a film 
making destination

•	 development of an 
integrated marketing 
campaign

•	 launch 
communications 
campaigns and tools

•	 nfvf has 
partnership with dti  
in promoting the 
incentive scheme

•	 partnership with 
the provincial 
film commissions 
and provincial 
government

•	 development of the 
nfvf corporate id 
and brand identity 

•	 create demand for 
film product

•	 stimulate the culture 
of film appreciation 
and cinema going 

•	 streamlining of 
corporate identity

•	 production of 
communication and 
marketing tools
•	 ifsa
•	 film catalogue
•	 conference 

booklet
•	 nfvf brochures
•	 newsletter
•	 upgrade of 

Website

law advisers in march 
2010. 

the senior officials 
meeting between 
algeria and south 
africa scheduled for 
15-18 January 2010 
was cancelled by the 
dac.

hosted mipcom 
pavillion for sa 
producers attending the 
market

promotional material
producers handbook

•	 conference booklets
•	 film catalogues
•	 nfvf brochures

newsletter ongoing
nfvf logo featured in 
all marketing materials
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Indicator  

(Mandate)

Key objective 

(what)

Strategy (how) Output (result) Progress

•	 demand stimulation 
and market 
development

•	 development of an 
integrated marketing 
strategy

•	 implementation of an 
integrated marketing 
strategy

•	 development of an 
integrated marketing 
campaign

•	 establish a 
distribution and 
exhibition platform 
for local product

•	 fund new & 
existing audience 
development & 
distribution initiatives

•	 fund new and 
existing audience 
development 
and distributions 
initiatives

•	 partnering with 
stakeholders within 
the arts and culture 
industry

•	 to measure the 
direct impact of 
our programmes to 
industry revenue 
streams and 
contribution to the 
tax base

•	 establish a pilot 
site to digitally 
exhibit local and 
international films

•	 more & better 
quality audience 
development 
& distribution / 
exhibition initiatives

•	 growth and 
increased diversity 
in south african 
audiences that 
have access to and 
demand for local 
content.

•	 participation at 
macufe 

•	 partnership with 
diff 

•	 partnership with 
apollo film festival

•	 partnership with 
encounters festival 

one on one 
presentations to be 
scheduled with key 
stakeholders on the 
overall integrated 
marketing campaign 
strategy to get buy in 
and participation in 
key critical areas of 
the strategy.  buy in 
in the area of demand 
stimulation and 
audience development 
will be sought. 
(marketing company 
to be sourced to assist 
with the strategy and 
implementation plan for 
the imc)

a consultant has been 
appointed to develop 
a business plan for the 
implementation of a 
pilot site.

a presentation 
was made to the 
dac regarding the 
establishment of the 
pilot site and the 
request for funding was 
made.

no participation at 
macufe

taking part at diff 
as nfvf marketing, 
funding and training

partnered with 
encounters 
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Indicator  

(Mandate)

Key objective 

(what)

Strategy (how) Output (result) Progress

•	 coordinated 
communication

•	 partnership with 
south african 
film festival in 
parliament.

•	 development of 
media relations 
and internal 
communication 
tools :

•	 press briefings

•	 media interviews 

•	 stakeholder 
meetings

parliament film festival 
postponed to 2010

ongoing media  
interviews on nfvf 
projects

3d - support the 
nurturing and 
development of and 
access to the film 
and video industry

•	 to improve the 
quality and 
commercial 
prospects of local 
productions

•	 to facilitate industry 
& public policy 
development.

•	 create exposure 
platforms

•	 script development 
programmes 
initiated sediba  
intermediate

•	 assigned script 
editors  to projects

•	 adequately fund 
script dev projects 
with recoupment 
conditions on 1st day 
of pp

•	 hold consultative 
forums every 4th 
year

•	 to promote south 
africa as partner for 
co-production

•	 50% of projects 
developed ready for 
production

•	 25% of project 
supported in 
development 
are green lit for 
production funding. 
(note that script 
development is a 2 
year process)

•	 indaba documents

•	 nfvf has 
partnership with dti 
in promoting the 
incentive scheme

•	 13 features and 
8 documentaries 
developed.  6 
features greenlit 
for production;  10 
doccies greenlit for  
production and 5 in 
post production.

•	 60% of features 
supported in 
development green 
lit for production 
funding.
30% of doccies 
supported in 
development greenlit 
for production 
funding.

the indaba report 
was compiled from 
the transcriptions and 
presentantions. the 
draft has been sent to 
industry organisations 

hosted mipcom 
pavilion for sa 
producers attending the 
market and also hosted 
cannes pavillion
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Indicator  

(Mandate)

Key objective 

(what)

Strategy (how) Output (result) Progress

•	 film maker exposure

•	 create demand for 
film product and 
stimulate the culture 
of film appreciation

•	 create awareness of 
sa film industry

•	 to promote south 
africa as a film 
making destination

•	 to promote film 
makers talent and 
films.

•	 development of an 
integrated marketing 
campaign

•	 launch 
communications 
campaigns and tools

•	 partnership with 
the provincial 
film commissions 
and provincial 
governments

•	 created partnerships 
with talent 
development 
initiatives 

•	 strategic partner
•	 talent campus
•	 cinemart
•	 no borders
•	 producers network

•	 development of the 
nfvf corporate id 
and brand identity

•	 create demand for 
film product

•	 stimulate the culture 
of film appreciation 
and cinema going 

•	 streamlining of 
corporate identity 

•	 production of 
communication and 
marketing tools
•	 ifsa
•	 film catalogue
•	 conference 

booklet
•	 nfvf brochures
•	 newsletter
•	 upgrade of 

Website

film makers support to 
attend 
•	 producers networks
•	 sales event in 

cannes
•	 no border co-

production forum
•	 pfm in london

promotional material
producers handbook

•	 conference booklets
•	 film catalogues
•	 nfvf brochures

newsletter ongoing
nfvf logo featured in 
all marketing materials
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Indicator  

(Mandate)

Key objective 

(what)

Strategy (how) Output (result) Progress

3e - address 
historical 
imbalances in
the infrastructure 
and distribution of 
skills and resources

•	 to create access 
and opportunities 
to previously 
disadvantaged 
individuals

•	 provide 
comprehensive 
accurate information 
on the film & video 
sector

•	 granting of bursary 
funding for entry 
level students

•	 development of 
sectoral information 
systems (sis) 

•	 development of a 
research plan

•	 develop Key 
performance 
indicators (Kpi’s) for 
the film sector

•	 90% of final year 
bursary students 
graduated 

•	 90% graduated to 
the following year of 
study

•	 sectoral information 
system for the 
industry

•	 published research 
documents

•	 approved Kpis for 
the film sector

•	 92% graduated

•	 86% graduated to 
the following year of 
study. 

it is assisting with the 
development of the 
specification document 
for sis.

meetings to discuss 
Kpi`s for the industry 
will be set up in the 
new finacial year in may 
2010. 

sound leadership, 
governance and 
management

•	 to improve efficiency 
and effectiveness in 
the management of 
nfvf

•	 implement and 
review hr strategy 
throughout 
the following 
programmes: 

	ο performance 
management 

	ο human resources 
development 

	ο employee Wellness 
	ο labour and 

compliance 
	ο reward 

•	 maintenance 
of efficient and 
effective systems of  
financial, legislative  
and administrative 
controls

•	 highly motivated 
staff that supports 
the  business

•	 100% 
implementation of 
the pms 

•	 80% of staff attend 
training 

•	 100% compliance 
with legislation 

•	 100% 
implementation of 
the reward system

•	

•	 maintenance of a 
risk register

•	 effective internal 
audit function

•	 performance 
reviews for the 
period of January 
2010 – march 2010 
completed.

•	 training as per pdp
•	 annual policy review- 

policies to be sent to 
council for approval.

•	 performance 
increase effective 01 
april 2010.

•	 motivation approved 
hr and council-
annual salary 
increases effective 
01 04 2010

•	 risk register for 
2010 has been 
adopted by the audit 
committee

•	 3 year internal audit 
plan adopted by 
audit committee

•	 funding, marketing, 
follow up and fdr 
audits completed 
with no significant 
findings
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Indicator  

(Mandate)

Key objective 

(what)

Strategy (how) Output (result) Progress

•	 effective 
procurement (scm) 
systems

•	 effective reporting 
mechanisms to 
council, dac and 
treasury

•	 unqualified audit 
report

•	 deviations approved 
by council

•	 Quarterly reports 
submitted to dac 
and council and 
discussed by exec 
management

•	 unqualified audit 
report received 
for year ended 31 
march 2009



30 | nfvf annual report



nfvf annual report | 31



CELEBRATING

32 | nfvf annual report

key perForManCe indiCators For the FiLM industry

the nfvf is committed to the 
transformation of the film sector to be one 
of the main streams of gdp growth in south 
africa. it is the nfvf’s view that the macro 
policy framework must be informed by 
reliable measures of aggregation and Key 
performance indicators. 

the fragmented statistics relating to 
the sector makes it difficult to measure 
economic performance and therefore 
sector investment attractiveness. to 
address these challenges the nfvf has 
promised to undertake the development of 
sectoral information systems (sis) in order 
to accurately measure sector performance 
and the related economic and job multiplier 
effects. this will be achieved through 
collaboration with statistics south africa, 
the south african revenue services, 
the department of trade & industry, the 
treasury and the reserve bank. Whilst 
work on the sis had already begun in terms 
of constructing the system on paper, the 
unavailability of resources has delayed the 
actual construction of the  network system 
that would ultimately receive data. the nfvf 
as part of its research mandate continues to 
collect data that would ultimately populate 
the system.

since the establishment of the nfvf, 
information has been used to make 
certain strategic interventions. one such 
intervention was recently made in the field 
of local distribution. after interrogating the 
financial returns and audience attendance 
of local films, the nfvf discovered a trend 
that pegged the performance of such 
films as lower than expected. in an effort 
to address this underperformance the 
nfvf used the information gathered from 

6.1  Key performance indicators 
for the film sector
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its internal market research to devise an intervention that would test the 
assumptions about lack of south african audience engagement with local 
content. this research gathered by the nfvf through its interaction with 
distributors, exhibitors and broadcasters helped the nfvf pilot the release 
of its inaugural title Skin. it was internal research on the value of publicity 
the nfvf was able to garner using innovative ideas  and strategies that 
helped sKin achieve four times its projected revenues.

•	 average budget for a south african film – r6million
•	 average return for a south african film - >r1million
•	 average marketing budget for a south african film – r150,000
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deMand stiMuLation and audienCe deveLopMent

the value charter identifies the stimulation of demand for 
south african product and the growth of markets as an 
imperative in the development of south african audiences. 
the value charter says that “at a micro economic level, 
the need is to stimulate the culture of film appreciation and 
cinema going, which will ensure growth within the sector”.  
central to the successful growth of the south african film 
and television industry is the increase in demand and 
growth of local audiences through increasing the volumes 
in production and therefore the margins whilst developing 
brand loyalty.

in order to achieve these objectives the nfvf embarked 
on the following activities:

6.2.1 south african film 
and television aWards 
(safta’s)

the awards are a tactical intervention in line with the 
programme of demand stimulation and audience 
development by celebrating talent and creativity within 
the south african film and television industry. the nfvf 
initiated the introduction of a national film and television 
awards, named the south african film and television 
awards (safta’s) as a result of a mandate given to the 
nfvf by the broader industry. the safta’s were set up to 
recognise, reward and popularise local film and television 
content and talent. the intention was to give prestige to 
local content, which in turn would increase the  popularity 
of its stars, thereby increasing demand and growing 
audiences.

SAFTA Objectives

the overall objectives of safta as adopted by the south 
african film and television awards committee are:

•	 to celebrate talent and creativity within the south 
african film and television industry.

•	 to encourage the development of new talent within the 
film and television industry.

•	 to promote film and television product that is of a 
high quality and demonstrates excellence in the south 
african industry.

•	 to encourage entrepreneurship within the south 
african film and television industry.

since the launch of the safta’s in 2006 the number of 
entries has grown tremendously from 95 to the highest 
record of 220 entries in 2010. the high number of entries 
indicates the value the industry gives to the awards and 
that they have been accepted and embraced by south 
african audiences. some of the comments made after the 
awards included: 

gugu sibiya- sowetan entertainment editor’s “The SAFTAS 
were well organised. The nominees and presenters were 
strategically seated at the front, which made life easy 
for everyone. Things just flowed and you could tell that 
people had rehearsed”; 

drum magazine “They are Mzansi’s answer to the 
Oscars, and while they may not be on the same scale as 
Tinseltown’s prestigious event, the SAFTAS were certainly 
a great opportunity for our stars to dazzle on the red 
carpet”; 

citizen’s sarah cangley, “I loved John Vlismas as the MC, 
especially when he arrived on stage in a pimped-out car. 
The on-stage taxi was good too, more realistic for putting 
its hazard lights on.”  

broadcast on sabc 2, the 2010 safta’s were averaged 
at 6.5 ars /21.3% share against the ‘all adult market’, 
totalling 1,6million viewers. the saftas publicity was 
estimated at r8 million as per monitoring sa reports.

6.2.2 national film festivals 

as part of its programme of reaching out and introducing 
film activity to outlying areas, the nfvf has identified 
key festivals to support. since the demise of sithengi 
film and television market incorporating the cape town 

6.2  demand stimulation and 
audience development
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World cinema festival, the nfvf identified the durban 
international film festival (diff), which celebrated its 
30th anniversary in 2009, as the main south african 
international film festival. this meant that more resources 
would be channelled through this festival simaltaneously 
elevating the status of the KwaZulu-natal province and 
the city of durban as a film centre. Whilst diff became 
the main south african international film festival, the 
encounters international documentary festival hosted 
in both Johannesburg and cape town became the main 
documentary film festival in south africa. this assisted in 
consolidating the south african film programme in line 
with other programmes that take place internationally 
whilst rationalising and focussing the limited resources 
available. 

the nfvf supports film festivals at a national level to fulfil 
the following objectives:
•	 to grow markets for south african cinema.
•	 to provide avenues for the distribution of south african 

film.
•	 to change the belief that local stories have low 

commercial value and appeal for local audiences.
•	 to increase the revenue streams coming into the 

industry and reverse the decline in cinema attendance
•	 to stimulate the culture of film appreciation, (especially 

of south african content) and cinema going.
•	 to provide a networking platform for south african film 

practitioners with international partners
•	 to allow for the provision of filmmaking workshops in 

the communities.
•	 to share information with the industry on nfvf 

programmes and projects.

all local festivals supported by the nfvf run outreach 
programmes which are aimed at audience development 
and exposing the south african public to local content.

Durban International Film Festival, Durban, 
KwaZulu - Natal

south africa’s longest-running film festival, the durban 
international film festival (diff) has strengthened 
its position as one of the leading film festivals on the 
african continent and a vital event on the international 
film calendar. operated by the university of KwaZulu-
natal, diff has three principal strands; the discussion 

and workshop component to stimulate industry capacity; 
an outreach programme to service new or marginalised 
audiences; and, centrally, the celebration of cinematic 
excellence through the exhibition of films. 

in 2009 attendance increased significantly at the 
30th edition of the durban international film festival. 
attendance figures were up with over 22,471 at the 280 
festival film screenings, representing almost 5,500 more 
than in 2008. Workshop and seminar attendances were 
also up with 1650 film enthusiasts attending 38 seminars 
and workshops, indicating a great level of interest in the 
creative and technical processes of filmmaking. the 
diff outreach programme screened films in 12 different 
communities, remaining a pioneer in taking film to areas 
in which cinemas do not exist therefore ensuring that film 
is accessible to all. 

the then newly appointed minister of arts and culture, 
ms lulu Xingwana visited the festival and commented: 
“the festival has demonstrated excellence in audience 
development programmes and contribution to the training 
and development of filmmakers.” the strong concentration 
of south african content comprised 9 feature films, 23 
documentaries, and 44 short films.  the two nfvf funded 
films,  My Secret Sky (Izulu Lami) by madoda ncayiyana, 
and Sea Point Days, directed by francois verster received 
special  jury mentions at the festival. Izulu Lami was 
relevant and resonated with the target market as it was 
produced in durban, with young first time actors  chosen 
from durban townships.
 
Encounters Documentary Festival, Johannesburg (Gauteng), 
Cape Town (Western Cape)

the nfvf has identified the encounters international 
documentary festival as the premier documentary festival 
in south africa. the festival’s objective is to create a cinema 
going culture and appreciation of the documentary genre 
that is enhanced by the presence of renowned established 
filmmakers, structured Questions and answer sessions, 
master classes and workshops. the festival is in line with 
nfvf programmes by holding sessions that foster the 
development of filmmakers and encourage film literacy 
and demystify the filmmaking process among audiences,. 
in 2009, 90 scheduled screenings took place over a period 
of seventeen days, with a total attendance of 10, 288.

deMand stiMuLation and audienCe deveLopMent
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KwaMashu Film Festival, Durban (KwaZulu-Natal)

the Kwamashu film festival held annually at the 
Kwamashu’s ekhaya community centre is one of the 
programmes that the nfvf encourages as it is reaching 
out to marginalised communities in south africa’s 
townships. the expanded edition of the festival saw 
outreach screenings and workshops taking place in 
umlazi and pietermaritzburg. White Wedding, directed 
by Jann turner, is a south african film that tells the 
story of the down-to-earth elvis (Kenneth nkosi) who 
is about to be married. White Wedding is a sweet, witty 
film that shows there is a place for everyone in south 
africa. the film which was screened at umlazi attracted 
huge audiences, attributable to the presence of both 
leading actors, rapulana seiphemo and Kenneth 
nkosi. the total audience attendance for Kaff 2009, 
which runs for 10 days, was 9400. a new feature of the 
Kaff 2009 was the programming of the new directors’ 
short films which attracted an audience from mainly 
emerging filmmakers in KZn. the 2009 festival 
managed to separate its long lasting film watching 
audience (children) and was able to introduce youth 
and adults to films. 

Kwa mashu has a strong relationship with the durban 
international film festival, benefiting immensely from 
it’s expertise and support. 

Tri-Continental Film Festival, Johannesburg (Gauteng), 
Cape Town (Western Cape) 

the tri-continental film festival representing films 
from africa, asia and south america focuses on human 
rights and socio political issues, making it unique on 
the south african film festival landscape. the festival 
recognizes that building a thriving film industry in south 
africa goes hand in hand with building mass audiences 
for local produced content. the attendance numbers 
for 2009 were 6500, which is reasonable considering 
the genre of films being screened.

outreach programmes are carried out in brixton, 
Kliptown, masikhane, pretoria, hillbrow, auckland 
park, bloemfontein, grahamstown, port elizabeth, 
howick, pietermartizburg, polokwane, cape town, 
betty’s bay 

Out In Africa 

the nfvf continues its support for the out in africa, 
south african gay and lesbian film festival, whose 
mandate is to create a consciousness and instill pride 
in a minority marginalized group of the population, and 
tolerance, acceptance and respect by broader civil 
society for the rights of this community. this festival 
is the only platform that supports the gay and lesbian 
community. in the past years the festival was able to 
immerse the film makers in all aspects of filmmaking, 
script writing, production and making contacts for the 
future. the nfvf’s involvement enables the festival to 
host workshops and training programmes.

Soweto Arts Festival 

soweto arts festival is a festival dedicated to film, 
centered on cinema, but also a celebration of arts, 
music and creativity. the soweto arts festival which 
celebrated more than six years of existence has 
dedicated a film festival that promotes locally and 
continentally produced films to the community at large. 
the festival has been a platform which the nfvf’s vision 
of an industry that mirrors and represents the nation 
and also has values of creativity, freedom of expression 
and entrepreneurship. the festival also encourages 
and uses community centers around the township.

Apollo Film Festival

the apollo film festival had historic references in 
that the apollo cinema is one of the oldest cinema 
theatres in south africa and film interest has always 
been alive. the festival had a lot of nostalgic value for 
those attending and thus has always received favorable 
attendance. the nfvf has supported the festival 
because of its local initiative to promote film in the 
region. the festival was also a community managed 
project that looks to develop local skills before looking 
for outside assistance. the success of the festival had 
always been due to the community’s involvement. the 
festival experienced administration and management 
challenges. the nfvf tried to intervene but the 
apollo development association was not open to the 
intervention, hence the discontinuation of support for 
the festival.
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Northwest Film Festival

the north west film festival was launched in the year 
2002/2003. the nfvf commenced its support in 2004. 
the festival took place in mafikeng with an outreach 
programme spreading to other parts of the north West 
province. the films screened at the festival depicted 
various social issues that ordinary south african can relate 
to. these topical issues included hiv/aids, soccer, urban 
youth culture, homosexuality, race relations and heritage. 
in addition to the screenings the festival also organized 
various workshops and talks which were presented 
by industry stakeholders such as the nfvf, sabc and 
Women of the sun.

since 2008 the festival experienced administration and 
management challenges which resulted in the nfvf not 
receiving any kind of feedback from the festival organizers.

6.2.3 skin – audience development

in an effort to directly contribute to an increase in local 
audiences and also address the structural failures in 
the distribution landscape, the nfvf embarked on an 
excersise to test out certain assumptions about local 
audiences and local films. Skin, directed by anthony 
fabian, follows sandra’s thirty-year old journey from 
rejection to acceptance, betrayal to reconciliation, as she 
struggles to define her place in a changing world - and 
triumphs against all odds. 

the film tells the story of sandra laing, a black woman 
born to white parents (sam neill, alice Krige) who were 
unaware of their black ancestory. Skin is the first film to 
be officially distributed by the nfvf. the nfvf acquired 
all rights for Skin for south africa and implemented a 
plan that involved leveraging the pr the nfvf had been 
consistently generating from its film activities. through 
a host of innovative marketing, pr and sponsorship 
agreements the nfvf, in conjunction with the history 
channel and mail & guardian, was able to drive audiences 
to see a particularly difficult film in the eyes of the other 
distributors in the country. the film was released on 11 
prints and brought in over a r1million theatrically with 
per print averages equaling disney’s The Tooth Fairy. this 
exercise has made the industry re-think what is possible 
with regards to local titles as well as to what role the nfvf 

can play in creating demand stimulation as it changed 
the perceptions on how local films are distributed and 
marketed.   

Taking Skin to Previously Disadvantaged Communities

as part of making film accessible to previously marginalised 
communities and testing these communities response to 
south african ‘political’ stories, the nfvf also undertook 
an audience study aimed at achieving some of these 
objectives. the ownership of the rights to the distribution 
of Skin presented a rare opportunity to reach out to matric 
learners from these areas. for most of the participants 
bussed to the venues, it was their first experience to watch 
a film in a cinema.

the screenings were simultaneous across the various 
venues in gauteng, Western cape and KwaZulu natal 
provinces on the 20th anniversary of nelson mandela’s 
release from prison, 11 february 2010. 450 fully 
sponsored matric learners participated from the 
following schools and questionnaires were distributed for 
completion after watching the screening:

•	 fidelitas secondary school, soweto. 
•	 mabuya secondary school, daveyton. 
•	 east bank secondary school, alexandra. 
•	 bedfordview high school, bedfordview.
•	 solomon mahlangu secondary, mamelodi.
•	 hlanganani secondary school, soshanguve. 
•	 J.g. Zuma secondary school from Kwamashu and 
•	 i.d mkhize focus school from gugulethu. 

some of the learners commented that, “the movie was 
authentic and emotional, yet forms an important part of 
our history which needs to be told.”  some felt that this 
movie must be used as part of their curriculum to reflect,  
“where we come from as a nation.” 
.
the study confirms that there is an appreciation for 
local films and also that access to cinema facilities is 
still a challenge. the study found that most respondents 
watched films mainly on dvd and television.

the nfvf also used this as an activation of taking cinema 
to the citizens, a strategic thrust that is part of the nfvf’s 
2025 vision.
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as the nfvf marks its 10th anniversary as an institution, 
it is instructive to look back at the impact of its work in 
the areas of script development, production and training. 
a number of significant achievements must be noted in 
respect of the key aims of the value charter in respect of 
the development and production of local content over this 
period. however, before we cast our eyes back that far, it 
is necessary first to point out some of the highlights of the 
2009/10 financial year.

Feature Projects Funded

the nfvf continued to build on the successes of 
previous years with some key highlights that demonstrate 
this. Shirley Adams by oliver hermanus was screened 
to critical acclaim at cannes in 2009 and went on win 
best picture at diff in the same year with awards for 
both direction and best actress. it subsequently also won 
best picture and best actress for denise newman in the 
safta’s. hermanus was selected for the 2010 cannes 
director’s residency program on the strength of this film 
and spent months in france learning from the best as he 
started work on his second film.

in 2009 the nfvf reported on the completion of the 
three short films from our indeginous language short film 
contest and this year we can report that one of them, 
Father Christmas Doesn’t Come Here, directed by first-
time director, bheki sibiya won best narrative short at 
tribeca, the new york international film festival hosted 
by actor robert de niro. bheki sibiya, has been invited 
to numerous major international festivals on the back of 
this win, launching him onto the world stage as a director 
to watch.

hanneke schutte, director of Superhero, the second of 
the shorts from the Women helmers competition, has 
also attracted festival attention internationally. she was 
invited to the berlin international film festival with her 
film, where she was treated with the reverence reserved 
for great new talents.  this followed hot on the heels of 
her achievement at the saftas, where the film won best 

short in 2009.  in 2010 she is likely to direct her first 
feature, Jimmy in Pink, also scripted by her, which was 
one of the winners of the 25 words or less competition run 
in partnership with the uK film council in 2007. 

one of our other short film winners, lev david, completed 
development on his first feature script, 31 Million 
Reasons, for rogue star, which is now considering 
directors to realize this heist story based on actual events 
set in durban.  Spud, adapted from south africa’s best-
seller by donavan marsh for rogue star, which has a slate 
deal with the nfvf, is in post production after completing 
principal photography in may 2010.  

Khumba, the second winner of the 25 words or less contest 
is in pre-production as a result of the serious attention 
being attracted by triggerfish’s work on Zambezia, their 
first 3d animation feature funded by the nfvf.  With an 
international sales agent and presales in several markets 
for this work, Khumba will go into production once work on 
Zambezia has been completed in december 2010.

Otelo Burning, scripted by James Whylie, has completed 
raising its finance and is set for production in July 2010 
with sara blecher of cinga films directing.  Jozi, a video 
vision project, which was funded under the working title, 
Stiff, has been out on the circuit and is now available on 
dvd.

elsewhere in this annual report, we celebrate the success 
of the nfvf’s first experiment with the distribution of Skin, 
which was also part of the cannes line up in 2009. The 
Battle for Johannesburg, a documentary feature by uhuru 
productions, is complete and is now starting to work the 
festival circuit. the nfvf is confident that a number of the 
other projects taken to the inaugural cannes sales event 
in 2009 will find the elements needed to close financing 
and go into production during 2010.

the year under review has also seen the full implementation 
of the nfvf’s plan to appoint script editors to work on all 
the feature projects it funds for development. five of the 

6.3  production and development   
 of content
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eleven projects developed in this manner have now been 
completed and are raising finance. in next year’s report 
we will provide feedback on the achievements of these 
filmmakers with their projects as we track the remaining 
six.

the nfvf has also taken on a new role that looks at the 
commercial viability of certain titles it finances and, with 
distribution activities started with the release of Skin, is 
becoming much more hands on with that product. this 
integrated approach helps shepherd market driven 
product that it can take to it’s international contacts 
including: sales agents, distributors, & co-financiers.

Documentary Projects Funded

the nfvf remains committed to the development and 
production of documentary stories about south africa in 
spite of the very small market available to this genre. the 
primary reason for this commitment is that it is a space 
that ensures filmmakers are able to express their deepest 
fears and their greatest hopes about our country, our past 
our present and our future.

the nfvf recognizes that the maximum amounts available 
for script development and production are woefully 
inadequate especially after the economic crisis and the 
financial crisis at the sabc brought a lot of hardship to 
many companies. it remains the commitment of the nfvf 
to lobby for an increase in fiscal allocations to the sector.

below is a record of projects funded in development and 
production in the 2009/2010 financial year.

Documentaries in Development

the life and times of extraordinary Khotso sethuntsa – 
iphulo media
on the trail of the basotho pony – up a gum tree 
productions
city body continent: in flux – switch media & 
resonance bazaar
community house: the spirit of the citizen – afro soul 
productions
villain or victim – tana baru productions
the voice – occasional films cc
instruments of god – bonny isaacs films

the black countess from bain str – margaret follet
traces of a count from south africa    
thousand hugs productions

Documentaries in Production

documentary on children in filmmaking – vuleka 
productions
imam & i – tuba films
south african cinema: a history – moviworld (pty) ltd
the stilnox miracle – angel films/ maya media
surfing soweto – cinga productions
We did overcome  – hambrook communications

Feature Projects in Development

mama afrika – miriam makeba film project (pty)
Westdene dam – noble pictures cc
contenders only – coal stove pictures cc
foKofpoliceman – Willem scholtz
my Zulu Wedding – Juju pictures
one day – firebird films
seretse & ruth – the dream furnace
the shades – red pill productions cc
swart gevaar – Xantium trading 441 (pty) ltd
the Whale caller – black roots pictures
a chameleon called gatiepie – andre scholtz
do unto others – stefan blank
mantwa – lentsoe  serote
the sharpeville six – Junaid ahmed
Walk like an italian – genna gardini
   
Feature Projects in Production
 
a tin of paint – pistoleros films
lion Women – moonlighting films (pty) ltd
chemo club – tunc productions
otelo burning – cinga productions
retribution – Krishna smiles - flowers bloom

Short Films in  Production

the abyss boys – ten10 films pty ltd
telegraph to the sky – teddy sometimes productions
umkhungo – mannequin films

over the past ten years between 2001 and 2010 



CELEBRATING

nfvf annual report | 39

the nfvf has funded the development of dozens of 
documentary and feature scripts as well the production 
of the projects which successfully emerged from the 
development process.

documentaries funded for development:  108
features funded for development: 97
documentaries funded for production: 140
features funded for production: 56

Recoupment Schedule
total recoupable grants are as follows:

grants allocated in 2003 12 690 774 
grants allocated in 2004 8 630 000 
grants allocated in 2005 4 990 000 
grants allocated in 2006  4 300 000
grants allocated in 2007    3 550 000
grants allocated in 2008 1 934 000
grants allocated in 2009    5 309 000
grants allocated in 2010 8 469 393
Total Recoupable Grants R 49 873 167

Co production treaties, guidelines and certification

With regard to the improvement of global competitiveness 
of the south african film sector, the nfvf and the dac 
has been proactive in formulating international cooperation 
agreements and co-production treaties. in 2004, the 
minister of arts and culture delegated the responsibility 
of the management of co-production treaties to the nfvf 
as a way of ensuring smooth and efficient execution of 
these treaties, whilst the minister retained the issuing of 
the final ruling on advice from the nfvf. co production 
and distribution agreements have been identified as key 
to the production of local genre and content in the value 
charter. 

such agreements seek to stimulate sustainable 
transnational business developments and result in 
exports and investments in south africa. the international 
relationships the nfvf is pursuing also assist in creating 
a market for south african product internationally. in 
pursuance of this goal, south africa has signed co 
production treaties with canada, germany, italy and the 
united Kingdom over the past 10 years. in the year under 
review, the nfvf jointly with the department of arts and 

culture negotiated the film co-production treaty with 
france and australia. rulings issued under these treaties 
include, amongst others:

•	 ghost son (sa-italy) 
•	 Jozi h (sa-canada) 
•	 nyum-nyum (sa-italy)  
•	 the flood (sa-canada) 
•	 stander (sa-canada) 
•	 the bang bang club (sa-canada)
•	 skin (sa-united Kingdom)
•	 starship troopers (sa-germany)
•	 surviving evil (sa-united Kingdom)
•	 the italian consul (sa-italy) 
•	 bridal dress (sa-germany)

in may 2006, in anticipation of the signing of the treaty 
between south africa and the united Kingdom, the nfvf 
and the uK film council launched a very successful genre 
pitching contest, called 25 Words or Less which has 
resulted in the production of a short film Superhero and 
the animated feature, Khumba.

as part of making the treaties accessible to south african 
filmmakers, the nfvf has developed co production 
guidelines which are important for administrative 
purposes. the purpose of the co-production guidelines is 
to provide south african producers with a guide on treaty 
requirements, procedure and documentation required for 
co-production certification process. 

the guidelines  incorporate some administrative issues 
that would have developed since the signing. it provides 
amongst others for an appeal process regarding the 
outcome of the applications for official co-production 
status as well as encouraging producers to comply with 
legal deposit act requirements. the guidelines and the 
amended application forms took effect on 1 september 
2009 after approval by the nfvf council.

the nfvf received 26 co production applications during 
2009/10, 17 of which were for advance rulings while 9 
were for final rulings.
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COUNTRIES TITLE STATUS
sa/canada a million colours advance ruling

sa/united Kingdom africa united advance ruling 

sa/germany the runaway advance ruling

sa/united Kingdom street Kids united advance ruling

sa/germany themba advance ruling

sa/canada We did overcome advance ruling

sa/germany the lost future advance ruling

sa/germany sniper: reloaded advance ruling

sa/italy the italian consul advance ruling

sa/germany death race 3 advance ruling

sa/germany chanda’s secret advance ruling

sa/germany smoke and ochre advance ruling

sa/germany lost boys 3 advance ruling

sa/united Kingdom heaven and earth advance ruling

sa/germany atlantis advance ruling

sa/germany music of africa advance ruling

sa/canada caillou advance ruling

sa/canada crusoe final ruling

sa/germany the ambassador final ruling

sa/germany bridal dress final ruling

sa/germany free Willy final ruling

sa/germany schweitzer final ruling

sa/germany angel/ blood and oil final ruling

sa/germany les deux mondes final ruling

sa/united Kingdom surviving evil final ruling

sa/canada rough/diamond final ruling
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gLobaL positioning oF the 
south aFriCan FiLM industry

6.4  global positioning of the south african 
 film industry

the value charter states that, “the production of local 
content must be publicised with a clear positioning strategy 
for the film sector.  the south african film industry must 
move from a low volume and low margin base to a high 
volume and high margin base…” the positioning of south 
africa within the continent and the world is a diplomatic 
enterprise that involves, hosting of and participation in 
international film festivals and carving a unique south 
african niche in the global film industry. 

at the outset of the establishment of the nfvf it was clear 
that south african cinema and national film products had 
to carve out a unique niche in the global film industry. Key 
international festivals, markets and events were identified 
and then worked to create awareness about our stories, 
our industry and our landscape.

in the initial phase this involved targeting the six major 
international film festivals and markets – The Berlin 
International Film Festival – Germany; Venice International 
Film Festival – Italy; Cannes International Film Festival 
– France; Toronto International Film Festival – Canada; 
Rotterdam Film Festival - Netherlands and Fespaco – Pan 
African Film Festival in Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso. 

south africa has had great successes in berlin with 
U’Carmen eKhayelitsha winning the golden bear for the 
best film in 2004. the documentary series, Project Ten, 
celebrating ten years of south africa’s democracy also 
received special attention at the berlin festival.  at the 
toronto international film festival (tiff), south africa 
has also received a lot of goodwill beginning with the 
premier of Promised Land by Jason Xenopolis. almost all 
internationally succcessful south african films have had 
their premiers at the tiff through the relationship that 
has developed with the nfvf whereby the programmer 
for the festival would travel to south africa to watch new 
films. the toronto international film festival is generally 
known as an audience festival. 

these forays were largely successful in creating a space 
where our films could be seen, critically appraised and 

rewarded with appropriate recognition when deserving in 
a sea of intense competition. it could be said that, the 
success of south africa at international level is linked to all 
the strides we have taken in positioning south africa as a 
film making nation and with all the other instruments our 
government has developed to support the film industry, a 
film making destination.

6.4.1 berlin film festival, germany 

there was a special focus on south africa at the berlin 
film festival in 2004. the nfvf enjoyed extensive media 
coverage with the ceo eddie mbalo being interviewed by 
Zdf television morning magazine and an arts programme, 
radio interview with rrb radio, newspaper interview 
with the taz a national daily, television interview with arte, 
television interview with Wdr and an interview with dWtv 
the satellite channel for deutsche Welle.

•	 project 10 premiered at the festival and all the 
producers, directors and executive producers for 
the first ten films attended the festival. the nfvf 
organised the launch event, in an old palace in east 
berlin.

•	 a delegation of south african film festival organisers 
from sithengi, durban film festival, molweni 
film festival and the apollo film festival attended 
a deutsche Welle training workshop on festival 
management.

•	 six south african filmmakers were part of the talent 
campus.

Country of My Skull had its world premiere at berlin to 
high acclaim; mr mfundi vundla, david Wicht and menzi 
ngubane, who stars in the film, attended the opening.

the nfvf contributed to the realisation of the coveted 
international film awards for Drum, Zulu Love Letter, 
Max and Mona, Forgiveness, Story of an African Farm, 
uCarmen eKhayelitsha and Yesterday. in 2005 U-Carmen 
eKhayelitsha won the golden bear award in berlin.
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6.4.2 toronto international film 
festival, canada

the toronto international film festival (tiff) is a platform 
to expose south africa films to the global market. the 
relationship with tiff extends back to 2003 and is based 
on a solid foundation with the co-director of the festival, 
cameron bailey. bailey was previously programmer of the 
planet africa section of the festival which focussed on 
films from the continent and the diaspora. planet africa 
was eventually abandoned as  filmmakers believed that it 
marginalized their work.  now a much broader framework 
exists for such filmmakers to showcase their work under 
the World cinema section.

in 2004, the festival showcased south african cinema to 
mark the tenth anniversary of our democratic dispensation. 
among the films premiered during this showcase was 
Drum the feature film debut of Zola maseko. that year 
saw a significant delegation of south african filmmakers 
and institutions making the rounds and celebrating our 
achievements.

the festival has, in the past few years hosted a gala 
presentation of south african films Red Dust, Yesterday 
and Hotel Rwanda. Tsotsi a film by gavin hood and one of 
the films supported by the nfvf, won the people’s choice 
award at the toronto film festival in 2005 and went on to 
become a south african entry into the academy awards 
–winning in the best foreign language category in 2006. 
south africa’s 2005 academy award nominee Yesterday, 
a film directed by darrel roodt was nominated for the 
prestigious emmy award along with another nfvf funded 
documentary The Lion’s Trail by francois vester, a film that 
traces the origins of a south africa classic song “mbube” 
which has been reversioned by many international artists 
including for the disney musical, the lion King. 

at the 2009 edition of the festival, Shirley Adams by oliver 
hermanus was screened to intense audience enthusiasm 
and critical acclaim. the post-screening question and 
answer sessions between the director and the audience 
were warm and very receptive to this new young talent 
from our country. because this is a festival driven by the 
loyalty and interest of the regular audiences which attend 
each year, it is an important launching pad for filmmakers 
interested in building an audience for their work in north 
america.

6.4.3 venice film festival, italy

in 2004, the venice film festival invited four south african 
films to feature as part of the official festival programmes 
to mark south africa’s ten years of democracy.

the south african embassy in italy and south african 
tourism supported south africa’s presence at the festival. 
the south african ambassador, mr lenin shope worked 
very closely with the nfvf in order to achieve a major 
spotlight for south africa at this event, through sponsorship 
for the two major events at the festival, ie a cocktail event 
to introduce south africa’s presence and a main event to 
celebrate south africa’s “ten years of democracy”. 

as part of the celebrations, the festival invited south 
africa’s foremost animator, William Kentridge to design 
and produce the festival logo which is normally placed in 
the front of all films screened at the festival which ended 
with a title, south africa 1994 - 2004.

6.4.4 cannes international film 
festival, france

the cannes international film festival is one of the world’s 
oldest and most prestigious film festivals. it is held annually 
(usually in may) at the palais de festival in cannes, france. 
south africa has had a successful presence at the festival 
for the past 11 years. in 2009, the nfvf partnered with 
the department of trade and industry (dti) which paid 
for the pavillion space. one of the highlights for 2009, 
was the celebration of the 70 years of the avalon group 
owned by former nfvf council member and safta’s life 
time achievement award recipient, mr moosa moosa. 
the occasion was attended by some of the most senior 
executives from the hollywood studios who have worked 
with the avalon group throughout the years.

nfvf’s objectives at cannes: 
•	 to provide a business base and environment for south 

african delegates.
•	 to present the south african line up of projects in 

development or in production 
•	 to promote south africa as a filmmaking destination
•	 to position south africa as a co-production partner of 

choice.
•	 to create networking forums for south african 
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delegates to generate a broad network of contacts in 
the international arena.

•	 to introduce up and coming producers to the 
international film arena.

10 years of attendance at the cannes international  film 
festival at a glance:

•	 in 2004, Zola maseko’s film Drum was officially 
screened during the cannes critics Week.

•	 in 2005 three south african features and nine shorts 
were screened under the official cannes programme, 
and reports of successful sales were received. sunu 
gonera who presented his short film at this occasion 
went on to direct his first hollywood film released in 
south africa in 2008 called Pride. another young 
filmmaker who presented a short film in 2005 
is sharlto copley, the lead actor in the critically 
acclaimed sci-fi movie District Nine.

•	 in 2006, the nfvf sponsored two student filmmakers 
to attend, and the minister of arts and culture, dr 
pallo Jordan signed a cultural agreement between 
south africa and france.

•	 in 2007 south africa was represented by 50 
filmmakers, reaching the highest number of 
delegates.

•	 in 2008 the numbers of south african delegates 
increased, recording the highest number of delegates 
when south africa celebrated its 10th years in 2009.

•	 in 2009, the nfvf, launched its first sales event at 
cannes taking 19 projects, funded by the institution, 
to this major market place. attendance by sales 
agents, distributors and possible co-production 
partners was modest but enthusiastic. of the 
projects raising finance at the event, a number have 
achieved significant milestones. among these was 
an international sales agreement with a minimum 
guarantee for Otelo Burning as well as offers for One 
Last Look and The Consequences. these three projects 
were also selected for no borders in new york where 
some of the offers crystallized into deals.

the creation of marketing materials around the projects 
as well as an interactive presentation of those projects 
helped to focus the nfvf’s activities at not only cannes 
but all the festivals that followed. projects included: 

•	 Skin – drama; status – completed; director – anthony 
fabian

•	 Shirley Adams- drama; status – completed ; director 
– oliver hermanus

•	 My Secret Sky  ( izulu lami) – drama; status – 
completed; director – madoda ncayiya

•	 Nothing But The Truth – drama; status – completed ; 
director – John Kani

•	 The Silver Fez – documentary ; status – completed 
;director – lloyd ross

•	 Superhero – short film; status – completed; director 
– hanneke schutte

•	 31 Million Reasons – feature film ; status – raising 
finance; director- John barker

•	 Adrianne – comedy ; status - raising finance; 
director – fred abrahamse

•	 And There In The Dust – feature film; status - raising 
finance; director – lara foot newton

•	 Battle For Johannesburg – documentary; status – 
raising finance; director – rehad desai

•	 The Consequence – horror; status – raising finance; 
director – amanda evans

•	 SPUD – comedy; status – raising finance; director – 
donovan marsh

•	 Khumba – animation; status – raising finance; 
director – anthony silverston

•	 One Last Look – thriller; status – raising finance; 
director – philip roberts

•	 Otello Burning – drama ; status – raising finance; 
director – sara blecher

•	 In The Shadow Of Saint – drama; status – in 
development; director – akin omotoso

•	 Stiff – comedy; status – in production; director – 
craig freimond

•	 Zambezia (2011) – animation; status – in production; 
director – Wayne thornley

during the festival, it was also clear that the interest in 
south african stories and co-productions with south 
africa had turned a corner. sales agents were looking for 
distinctive work which differentiated itself uniquely from 
what was being produced elsewhere in the world. this 
may explain to a large extent the critical acclaim heaped 
on Shirley Adams and the subsequent director’s residency 
awarded to him by the festival. the film is a tightly scripted, 
harrowing account of an unemployed mother’s efforts 
to keep her recently paralysed son from giving up hope 
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and killing himself. the residency is a highly prestigious 
award which allows the filmmaker to live in france for a 
number of months working on their next project and being 
mentored by past palm d’orr winners.

this festival remains important for the nfvf not only 
because it regularly programmes south african films, 
but because filmmakers can do business with the rest of 
the world in one space. the pavilion has become both a 
business hub, where sa filmmakers can meet prospective 
sales agents, co-production partners and financiers, but 
also a social space where they can come to relax among 
familiar faces and voices after pounding the croisette in 
the warm sun drumming up business for their companies.
 
the nfvf also hosts a filmmakers networking session 
at the pavilion. the aim of facilitating the filmmakers 
networking session at the sa pavilion is to encourage 
open and informal communication between south african 
filmmakers and foreign filmmakers.

the session worked extremely well and was well attended.

each year during cannes, the nfvf and its respective 
partners host a networking function. the main objective 
is to network, build and maintain relations. the event is 
ranked as one of the best events in cannes and is attended 
by international buyers, sales agents and distributors. 
the  event is a platform for south african filmmakers to 
establish connections with key industry players and in 
2009, the networking event which was graced by the then 
south african ambassador to france he dr. Konji sebati.

6.4.5  fespaco, ouagadougou 
burkina faso, 

this biannual festival remains of strategic importance to 
the nfvf for several reasons. it is the premier meeting 
place for african filmmakers on the continent and the 
diaspora. it celebrates african cinema and provides a 
space within which the challenges facing the continental 
industry can be addressed in an informed manner 
particularly because it reminds south african filmmakers 
of the massive advantages we have over our counterparts. 

the 2008 edition of the festival saw south african film and 
television dramas do extremely well. 

Whilst the nfvf had identified strategic film festivals to 
meet its broader objectives, over the years, the focus has 
narrowed to festivals which serve the strategic objectives 
of the nfvf on several grounds – they are ready markets 
for our products and provide a space within which deals 
can be made for the distribution, sale or co-production 
of our work. the result has been to give priority to the 
following: fespaco, held in burkina faso every two 
years, cannes, toronto, ifp, held in new york and hot 
docs, held in canada and idfa. the entry into hot docs 
and idfa is aimed to exploring the usefulness of these 
markets for distribution, sale or co-production of south 
african documentaries.

the attendance of certain co-production forums around 
the world has been a consistent intervention of the nfvf 
since the organizations inception. as mentioned above, 
there have been changes from time to time about which 
markets to attend, but what has remained intact has been 
how these platforms are used to position the south african 
film industry as well as its practitioners. over the past year, 
the nfvf has taken on a much more hands on role with 
the raising of capital and interest in projects the nfvf 
is funding. particular examples include the interventions 
at No Borders in new york which saw the attracting of 
one of europe’s top sales companies coming on board 
a completely local film that is entirely in isiZulu with an 
all black local cast, but also boasts a first time female 
director at the helm. this kind of film would rarely attract 
financing or sales representation prior to completion 
because of its lack of “saleable” elements, but through 
the nfvf’s continued interaction with foreign partners at 
these international markets and festivals, the film was able 
to bring on, not only sales representation, but a financial 
contribution.

6.4.6  no borders/independent 
feature project (ifp), new 
york usa

this co-production forum is a key opportunity for south 
african filmmakers to raise finance for projects which may 
have “cross-over” potential, in other words, projects which, 
in spite of their south african setting, could break out to 
festival and or main stream audiences in the united states 
of america. What is unique about this forum is that projects 
are pre-selected by the organizers and prospective, sales 
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agents, producers and financiers arrange for meetings 
with the rights holders, the producers.

in 2009, the ifp organizers commended the south 
african projects for their strong commercial appeal. 
among these projects were Otelo Burning, One Last Look 
and The Consequences, all of which were genre films with 
commercial potential for the south african box office. The 
Consequences broke ifp records for the most meetings 
requested with the filmmakers. during these meetings 
nfvf staff are available to assist the filmmakers to pitch 
their projects as well clarify any questions about the 
incentives and local funding issues.

Otelo Burning, picked up its international sales agent and 
distributor, beta, during this forum. When filmmakers are 
not selling their work and raising finance, there are also 
a number of seminars and workshops. these are useful 
additional tools for filmmakers operating on the world 
stage raising cash on projects with no star attachments 
or any other bankable elements apart from a great script.

6.4.7 afci, los angeles usa 

the association of film commissioners international 
(afci), locations expo is an important platform for south 
africa to profile itself as a film location, its facilities and 
talent to the hollywood film industry. afci locations expo 
is also an important platform for the promotion of south 
africa’s incentives and locations.

the nfvf has since its inception hosted the south 
african pavilion in partnership with the provincial film 
commissions and the department of trade and industry. 
the south african pavilion which won third prize for most 
creative pavilion at afci 2009 reflected what south africa 
has to offer as a film location. 

since 2005 the south african stand had representatives 
from gauteng and Western cape film commissions 
and other provinces including mpumalanga, the free 
state and the eastern cape.  in 2007 the south african 
delegation was invited as part of the media exchange to 
tour hollywood studios and visit with senior executives. 
through the nfvf intervention various films including: 
Blood Diamonds, Hotel Rwanda, 10000BC, and Invictus 
were shot on location in south africa.

6.4.8  mipcom / miptv, cannes 
france 

the nfvf‘s primary strategy has been to facilitate and 
host the presence of south african broadcasters and 
producers at these annual television markets in cannes, 
france. the secondary objective has been to establish a 
base for south african producers present at the market. 
these two objectives have previously been achieved in 
partnership with sabc and m-net. the miptv and 
mipcom television markets are important platforms for 
the sale of television product and for the south africa to 
promote and sell its television production content.

in 2009, the nfvf hosted the stand without support 
of both broadcasters. because of the 2010 fifa World 
cup spotlight the stand was inundated with demand 
from international buyers enquiring about soccer related 
content. through the collaboration with the broadcasters, 
we have witnessed an increasing interest in south african 
produced tv content, another sign that our level of 
production is on par with global standards.

6.4.9 idfa, amsterdam holland

as part of the nfvf’s strategy of attracting the attention 
of broadcasters, co-production partners and co-financiers 
to its slate of documentaries, the nfvf attended the 
international documentary film festival of amsterdam 
(idfa). this festival, market and pitching forum is the 
premiere global event for documentaries.

in november 2009 the nfvf attended idfa in order to 
research on how best to take advantage of the platform for 
south african projects. a number of meetings were held 
with sales agents specializing in documentaries and with 
commissioning editors from a host of countries. 

these preliminary meetings are intended to blossom into 
relationships that will see future financing coming to the 
table for our non-fiction films. 

the nfvfs strategy for next year will focus on supporting 
the attendance of filmmakers invited and officially selected 
to pitch at idfa as well as the accompaniment of those 
filmmakers in order to help raise additional financing by 
showing a strong commitment from their national film 
development body.
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6.4.10 international partnerships - 
sweden/south africa 

in 2008, the south african/sweden three year exchange 
culminated in a series of seminars and exchanges 
between the swedish film institute (sfi) and the nfvf.

film screenings were done in co-operation with cinema 
africa. south african filmmakers presented their 
productions with discussion on various topics such as 
production and distribution.

the outcome of the visit to sweden is that the nfvf and 
the sfi will in principle collaborate on at least 3 projects; 
digital distribution and exhibition in south african 
townships, a film in schools programme in south african 
schools, and an exchange of films between the durban 
international film festival and the gotenborg film festival.

under the south african – swedish mou signed in 
1999, and as an outcome of the south african sweden 
culture partnership, the swedish film institute hosted 
a successful “south african film Week” in stockholm, 
sweden from 30 march – 7 april 2006.

the films screened were:
•	 Conversations on Sunday afternoon by Khalo matabane
•	 Zulu love letter by ramadan suleman
•	 Forgiveness by ian gabriel
•	 Drum by Zola maseko
•	 U-Carmen e-Khayelitsha by mark danford-may
•	 Yesterday by darrel roodt

6.4.11 international awards

the years of consistent, visible and professional marketing 
of south africa as a film destination are continuing 
to bear fruit, with sa film being selected for numerous 
international festivals.

the international industry sees south africa as a serious 
partner.  there is an increase in the number of south 
african producers and directors attending international 
markets and festivals, mostly assisted by the nfvf.

since it’s participation at festivals, the nfvf has 
represented the following films which went on to win 
numerous awards:

•	 U-Carmen e-Khayelitsha – golden bear – berlin
•	 Drum – the golden stallion – fespaco
•	 Drum – the best art direction – fespaco
•	 Zulu Love Letter – best actress - fespaco
•	 Zulu Love Letter – european union prize - fespaco
•	 Max and Mona – best first time director (feature) – 

fespaco
•	 Beat the Drum – signis prize – fespaco
•	 Beat the Drum – prize for health and security at Work 

– fespaco
•	 Beat the Drum – city of ouagadougou prize – fespaco
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training and deveLopMent For the seCtor

in an effort to directly impact on the raising of capital the 
nfvf created the new ventures division in the past year. 
this division can be likened to an innovation hub whose 
purpose is to find new ways of investing and developing 
commercially viable businesses in the film industry. an 
initiative of note over the past year has been the overseeing 
of an exhibition platform that would service the vastly 
underserviced masses of south africa. this initiative in 
particular has resulted in the creation of a business case 
that is now in search of proper funding to make the pilot 
site a reality. 

a second initiative was embarked upon in collaboration 
with a filmmaking team that has designed an alternative 
financing structure called the south african film 
exchange (safe). the nfvf has actively been assisting 
this team in finding ways of making their model a reality. 
interventions with the idc, dti, treasury & sars have 
been made particularly in addressing a tax leakage issue 
within the model that makes its exploitation difficult. the 
nfvf has been encouraged with the level of interaction 
between the different government departments.

When the nfvf developed its moral imperative, one of 
the issues it had in mind, was the creation of facilities for 
ordinary south africans to tell their own stories. 

the strategic thrust was to create a route for ordinary 
people from the periphery into the mainstream of 
filmmaking. one of the key challenges was to identify 
critical skills gaps which have hindered the industry from 
producing films that could perform internationally while 
providing local audiences with engaging yet entertaining 
content. the nfvf has committed  itself to comply with 
the national policy of skills development, and to the 
harnessing of skills in accordance with the legislative and 
regulatory framework. in line with this objective the nfvf 
has launched a number of scholarships and collaborated 
with various institutions.

in 2004, the nfvf launched the “dr lionel ngakane 
scholarship fund” to encourage the continuation of his 
ideals by identifying and assisting emerging film talent to 
realise their career goals. the nfvf has committed r1 
000 000 annually to the fund to provide bursaries and 
scholarships.

in 2003, a mou was negotiated with mulitchoice in 
partnership with the department of labour for the vuka 
awards. an agency agreement was signed between nfvf 
and department of communications (doc) for content 
development and skills development. in partnership with 
sabc1 and the maurits binger film institute and the doc, 
15 documentaries were produced under a mentorship 
programme, under the banner ‘project 10 – stories 
from a free south africa’. all films were completed and 
have been distributed internationally and presented at 
numerous national and international festivals. 

the memorandum of understanding signed with mnet 
new directions in 2003 provided the opportunity for 
the development of new talent. 4 short films and 1 
documentary were produced during the time, and they 
are:

•	 Music of the Violin directed by mickey dube
•	 The Tamat directed by munier parker
•	 Hopeville Mansions directed by sacha clellend-stokes
•	 IDIA - The Ivorian Mask directed by lucky moropane
•	 Freedom is a personal Journey directed by akiedah 

mohammed

6.5  finance and funding 
 for the sector

6.6  training and development 
 for the sector
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6.6.1 student open day

since 2006 the nfvf has been hosting an open day for all 
past and present nfvf funded bursary students. the aim 
of the open day is for students to be introduced to various 
stakeholders within the industry and to create a platform 
for them to network with fellow students. 

the young filmmakers are addressed by different working 
film and television producers and received words of 
inspiration by veteran journalist and author, dr don 
mattera. the event attracts more than 200 learners and 
receives maximum publicity.

6.6.2 trevor Jones scholarship fund

in 2005 the nfvf, national film and television school 
(nfts) in the united Kingdom and dr trevor Jones, a 
south african who left the country 30 years ago on a 
scholarship, launched a special scholarship, the trevor 
Jones scholarship fund, designed to help talented young 
south african filmmakers study in the uK at the national 
film and television school. 

after the launch of the scholarship, dr Jones accepted an 
invitation by the producers of the biggest south african 
drama series Jozi h, to compose the music for the series. 
one of the executive producers on the series is the former 
nfvf chairperson, mr mfundi vundla, and the series is a 
co-production between south africa and canada.

6.6.3 arts in education national

 schools festival, grahamstown

nfvf participated at the arts in education national 
schools festival. this festival is held every year post the 
grahamstown arts festival. in existence for 33 years, the 
aim of the festival is to expose grade twelve (12) students 
who are interested in a career in the arts, to the wide 
range of possibilities that are available. the festival is run 
by the grahamstown foundation. the nfvf participated 
for the first time to expose the pupils to careers in the film 
industry and to promote the nfvf’s bursary programme. 

the nfvf hosted an information stand where nfvf 
literature was disseminated and facilitated for filmmakers 
to give lectures at the festival.

6.6.4 sabc careers fair 

the film and publications board (fpb) and the nfvf 
partnered at the sabc career fair held in bellville, 
cape town.the objective was to interact with pupils of 
school going age before they make the decision as to 
which career direction they take after school. the nfvf 
distributed general information on the industry and 
specific information on the bursary scheme.

6.6.5 sediba skills development 
programme

this nfvf flagship training programme has started 
developing a reputation for excellence in the wake of the 
successes achieved with the collaboration undertaken 
with the sabc in the development of its mini series strand 
over the previous two years.  this strand, particularly the 
adaptations under the Shakespeare in Mzanzi rubric, 
have achieved commendable ratings and critical acclaim.  
Death of a Queen (an original adaptation of macbeth set 
in limpopo), scripted by marina bekker, won best mini 
series at the 2009 saftas. this follows the success 
achieved in 2008 with When We Were Black, directed by 
Khalo matabane and also developed through sediba.

a number of the series developed in this way have been 
re-commissioned. among them, When We Were Black, 
Umtunzi we Ntaba, Society and Ubizo, which is a great 
testament to the quality of the training provided through 
sediba and the talent identified by the sabc to develop 
these projects. 

although pockets of resistance remain in the industry to 
the sediba approach to script development, writers trained 
under the programme are finding it much easier to land 
writing work in television and the nfvf is entertaining 
more requests for direct entry into the program, rather than 
through the selection of candidates through applications 
for development funding presently being utilised.

over the past financial year sediba has continued its 
excellent work of training writers and script editors. the 
feedback from many participants has been that the 
experience is life-changing.

The Spark for Narrative Fiction program is now running 
like a well oiled machine with sessions in cape town 
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and Johannesburg. cape town is now on its second 
cycle of workshops while Johannesburg is preparing for 
its sixth cycle. ten successful writing participants from 
the three previous cycles, one in cape town and two in 
Johannesburg, were selected to the masters program.  
in Johannesburg, the sixth cycle will start in september 
2010.

in 2009/10 the nfvf reviewed the Sediba Intermediate 
Development program and found it unable to achieve its 
goal of developing feature length scripts to 2nd draft polish 
within five months.  the program, which was popularly 
known as the “call to adventure”, was revised and 
expanded to eleven months over one year and has been 
rechristened the Sediba Masters Development program.

ten projects and writing teams were selected to the 
program to join ten script editors who had all successfully 
completed the spark program. in this round of training 
only black script editor candidates were eligible. the nfvf 
is proud to announce that by the end of september 2010, 
six out of the ten script editors trained through sediba 
over the past two years are likely to be recommended 
to commence work as professional script editors in the 
industry and on nfvf funded projects.

the nfvf also expects three out of the ten projects to 
achieve the goal of completing 2nd draft polishes of the 
scripts in the allotted time. two other projects will require 
further development and one project will be advised to 
apply for development funding from the nfvf. participants 
have found the going gruelling, frustrating and rewarding. 

the result is that some had to be dropped and new 
projects and talents had to be brought on board to take 
advantage of the training and the socratic group script 
development process.

in 2009/10 the nfvf launched the International Financing 
Program for Advanced Producers as a direct result of the 
failure of many experienced south african producers to 
close the financing on projects funded for production by 
the nfvf. the department of trade and industry (dti) 
had reported similar findings on applications for the local 
production incentive scheme where projects failed to 
materialize after provisional certification for the rebate had 
been issued.  

the result, at the dti, was that millions in unclaimed 
funds had to be returned to the fiscus. in the case of the 
nfvf, the projects had to be written off and the funds 
returned to the production pot.

in the period under review, the nfvf appointed angus 
finney of the cas business academy in london to design 
and mentor the programme with a specific focus on 
experienced producers who needed to understand the 
international market place for the financing of feature 
films. this programme provides an in depth look at what 
sales agents and distributor deals can and should be 
and does it through a series of case studies provided by 
the lead facilitator who ran renaissance pictures, one of 
europe’s most successful sales companies. 

the programme then selected, in consultation with 
finney, 15 candidates including 4 sabc commissioning 
editors and film lecturers from three film schools or film 
departments at universities for the training.  only 8 of the 
candidates were practicing producers.

the aim was that by the end of the program in october 
2009, the three best producers would have developed their 
projects and business plans sufficiently to be accepted 
into the london film finance forum where the producers 
could pitch their work to international financiers, sales 
agents, distributors and possible co-production partners.

like with the feedback on our other sediba programs, 
the response from the first cohort of producers was that 
the experience was life changing. one producer gave up 
his day job and started his own company; another closed 
down their commercials company to concentrate on the 
development and production of feature films and the 
remainder got a sobering look at what it really means to 
produce feature films in south africa. by october 2009, 
4 producers and their projects were invited to attend the 
finance forum in london where they were able to pitch 
their work.

two projects have seen almost immediate returns on their 
investment of r10,000, which is part of the subsidised fee 
the nfvf charges for this training. Otelo Burning, featured 
earlier in this report, has completed financing within less 
than a year of completing the development of the project. 
Stockholm, Zululand has completed a co-production 
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agreement with a swedish producer which includes 
pre-sales with scandinavian television networks and is 
slated for production with swedish and south african 
principals in december 2010 or January 2011. My Other 
Mother has been able to complete script development 
and is continuing with the packaging of the project to 
help raise finance. The Shades has also completed script 
development and has now started packaging the project 
for international financing consideration.

news about the utility of the program  spread so fast that 
the nfvf has been inundated with calls to start a similar 
program for emerging producers. the second edition of 
the program in 2010/11 will have an additional 2 days 
devoted solely to emerging producers. the nfvf has also 
opened the advanced program to producers from the rest 
of the african continent, but have found no takers.   We 
will continue to explore this area of co-operation in the 
ongoing months.

the nfvf has overseen the development of business 
case as the grounds for the establishment of the trading 
entity as outlined in the act. the plan has been reported 
on previously and has been the basis for many of the 
nfvf’s activities in an effort to test out the assumptions 
laid out in that original business case. the success of the 
new ventures division over the past year can be attributed 
largely to the plans laid out in the business case that was 

developed for the entity. sadly those plans are unable to 
be implemented until substantial funds from government 
are made available. Without those funds, the plan will 
only impact the thinking of the nfvf and not the overall 
direction of the industry. What is needed is a further 
r36million a year allocation for a 7-year period to truly 
launch the entity and have it become a self-sustaining 
driver within the industry.

6.7  establishment of the trading entity
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intergovernMentaL and 
stakehoLder reLations

the realization of all strategic initiatives requires 
ongoing collaboration and co-operation with a number 
of government departments, policy and legislation 
formulation institutions and other stakeholders. in 
order to ensure participation of stakeholders, the nfvf 
encourages the formation of, and working with film sector 
forums, associations, federations and relevant special 
interest groups.

co operation agreements are an important tool for the 
nfvf to enter into formal cooperative relationships 
with local and international film institutions. during this 
financial year, the nfvf was able to engage with the 
industry through the indaba, an important forum as well 
as to pursue collaboration with other institutions. 

intergovernmental and stakeholder relation in the value 
charter is not only limited to establishing and maintaining 
relationships locally. in the global village, it is important to 
collaborate with institutions which play similar roles to that 
of the nfvf. in the past ten years, such relationships have 
opened doors for collaboration on funding of projects and 
training programmes. 

6.8.1 memorandum of understanding  
 with the national centre of 
 cinema and audiovisual of
 algeria

the relationship between south africa and algeria is 
an important one from a historical and political context. 
discussions on cooperation commenced when the 
minister of arts and culture attended the african union 
ministers of culture conference hosted in algeria in 2008.  
since then, the department of arts and culture in south 
africa and algeria worked towards a bilateral agreement 
on arts and culture and programme of cooperation (poa). 

the poa included cooperation in the areas of heritage, 
performing arts and film. the agreement would become 
the activation for the film and audiovisual part of the cultural 

agreement and would enable the nfvf and the national 
centre for film and audiovisual arts to collaborate in the 
areas of co production, festival programmes, distribution 
and exhibition and education and training. 

6.8.2 african film summit
in 2006, the department of arts and culture (dac) and 
the national film and video foundation in association 
with the pan african federation of filmmakers (fepaci), 
hosted the african film summit as well as the 7th general 
congress of fepaci, in tshwane south africa. 

over 250 audio visual and cinema practitioners from 
42 countries met together with other stakeholders and 
partners, for what has been billed as an “astounding 
success”, and as “one of the most important events in the 
history of the african film industry”.

6.8.3 nfvf film indaba 2009
the film indaba forums are a well established strategic 
discursive practice for the nfvf where role-players and 
stakeholders come together to interpret the statutory 
mandate of the nfvf, and co-create and co-formulate the 
film sector strategy and the nfvf strategic thrust.

in this regard, the film indaba is a treasured asset that 
should be formalised, appreciated and be applied together 
with other asset artilleries to build the content industry 
sector, as the ict convergence environment widens and 
deepens. 

the indaba 2005, a gathering by stakeholders from the 
film sector was the culmination of the life cycle of the 
national film and video foundation; mobilisation towards 
the adoption of the value charter – and an opportunity for 
the people to be heard. 

up until the indaba, the charter had remained at the level 
of a value, vision and mission statement for the nfvf, and 
a document that the parliamentary portfolio committee on 

6.8  intergovernmental & 
 staKeholder relations
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arts and culture had engaged with over a period of time. 
at this indaba, the charter was adopted as a document 
that embodied a shared and dynamic vision for the film 
sector. 

a programme for developing stakeholder relations between 
the nfvf and the various industry representative bodies 
was developed and industry briefings presented as part of 
a national road show to present the nfvf’s programmes 
to the industry stakeholders.

the theme of the indaba 2009 was titled “mapping the way 
towards 2025”. this theme is informed by the realignment 
and review of the value charter which is informed by the 
updated nfvf strategy. the indaba was held at glenburn 
lodge, muldersdrift on 26 and 27 november 2009.

the indaba was held at glenburn lodge, muldersdrift on 
26 and 27 november 2009.

the second edition of the value charter was the 
discussion document for indaba 2009. the following 
topics for discussion are derived from the mission critical 
initiatives:
•	 policy alignment, intergovernmental and stakeholder 

relations
•	 development and growth of markets
•	 human capital development 
•	 making an economic for the industry
•	 building a sustainable business

the discussions at the breakaway sessions included 
debates on the key performance indicators for the industry, 
sustainable business models, the establishment of a 
national film school to mention a few. each breakaway 
session also made recommendations under the 5 topics.  

professor mbulelo mzamane facilitated the two day event. 
the indaba was attended by 160 and 50 delegates on the 
respective two days. the delegates comprised of industry 
and government representatives, speakers as well as 
council members. 

6.8.4 intergovernmental finance   
 forum 

an initiative was developed with the dti, idc, & sabc 
aimed at raising a substantial amount of financing over a 
series of 20 low-budget films. these films would be fully 
greenlit and driven by the above partners. 

the past year has seen significant developments in 
this regard with multiple meetings between the partner 
organizations. 2010 should see the piloting of the first 
film in the model, which would entail the creation of 
the templating process including contracting, rights, 
distribution and sales.

6.8.5 intergovernmental indaba
the nfvf hosted the intergovernmental indaba in 2008, 
the purpose of which was to build co-operation on issues 
of the development of film and video as guided by section 
41 of the constitution, on the principles of cooperative 
governance. government departments of arts and culture, 
trade and industry, labour, education, foreign affairs, 
provincial and local government, communications and 
home affairs attended the indaba. also present were other 
state institutions like, the idc, the sabc and provincial 
film commissions.

6.8.6 media relations
in 2009/10 the nfvf held meetings with various 
newspaper chief editors with the objective of solidifying 
relationships with the media and positioning the nfvf 
as a primary source of information on issues which 
pertains to film. issues of policy and research, which 
have been overlooked by the media, were also addressed 
in the meetings, and the results are already visible with 
journalists paying attention to the nfvf.

the creation of good will, alliances and support from the 
media and stakeholders is critical for the success of all 
initiatives and policy formulation.
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sound Leadership, governanCe and ManageMent

6.8.7 the minister meets the industry
the nfvf supported the minister of arts and culture 
ms lulu Xingwana’s meeting with the film industry. the 
meeting was held on october 12th 2009 with the aim of 
bridging the gap between the dac and the film sector. 
in her address the minister called for the establishment 
of an industry task team to address concerns that were 
tabled before her. some of the  issues that were raised 

by industry organisations such as sasfed, tviec and 
independent filmmakers included funding, transformation, 
regulations of the sector and job security. the outcome 
of the meeting was that the industry was asked to make 
written submissions that will assist in developing policies 
and addressing industry issues.

6.9  sound leadership, governance 
  and management

governance

the nfvf is a section 3a public entity that is guided by 
both the principles set out in the nfvf act as well as the 
public finance management act (pfma). as such, it’s 
objectives are to ensure a fully functioning and efficient 
nfvf office that fulfils its statutory obligations in terms of 
the nfvf act and the pfma and fully meets the service 
delivery needs of its stakeholders. this means that firstly, 
the nfvf needs to have adequate resources to fulfil 
its mandate and secondly to implement and maintain 
efficient and effective corporate governance systems.

over the past ten years the nfvf has successfully:  
•	 ensured financial compliance with the nfvf act and 

the pfma as well as financial and legal compliance 
with other statutory bodies (e.g. sars)

•	 ensured an efficient nfvf office that successfully 
meets the needs of its various stakeholders. 

•	 developed, implemented and maintained an 
administration system that ensures the productivity 
and quality of the nfvf office

•	 developed, implemented and maintained an effective 
and efficient supply chain management system 

•	 obtained an unqualified audit report for the past 10 
years

•	 identified and managed risks by holding annual risk 
workshops which culminate in annual internal audit 
plans and a risk register

•	 ensured good corporate governance by establishing 
committees including the audit committee, hr 
committee, and exco etc. as well as having a fully 
functioning and efficient internal audit function.

•	 ensured that the hr policies and procedures are in 
line with the legislature and best practice

situational analysis

however, in as much as the nfvf has had many 
accomplishments and achievements in the past 10 years 
(as identified above), there are many challenges that still 
face the organisation:
•	 changing nature of compliance, e.g., compliance is 

no longer limited to financial compliance, but also 
includes service delivery, performance, it, security etc

•	 due to limitation of nfvf’s current budget, it is 
becoming increasing difficult to stay within the 25% 
administration limit as prescribed by the nfvf act.

•	 the nfvf’s parliamentary allocation increases by 
a token percentage each year and has never been 
informed by any strategic process. the nfvf budget 
was actually decreased for the 2010/11 financial year.
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•	 the reliance on it as a business tool presents 
challenges on how tools and resources are 
incorporated and utilised as strategic business 
components and drivers while balancing cost and 
production

in spite of nfvf’s budgetary constraints, the nfvf has 
made positive strides in service delivery, good governance 
and financial management. this has gained the nfvf 
good standing with its political principals (dac) and 
other stakeholders including dti, film commissions, 
broadcasters, industry players etc. 

Whilst adhering to prescribed procedures, the nfvf 
prides itself on its efficient and transparent engagement 
with all its stakeholders, including industry players. 

service level agreement

the nfvf act provides for very broad and general functions 
and objectives of the foundation including provision on 
the relationship between the nfvf and the dac. in the 
past 10 years, the relationship between the nfvf and the 
dac has not been the easiest. the service level agreement 
(sla) and the long overdue nfvf regulations have been 
identified as two key interventions that can streamline  
governance, reporting and management objectives and 
enhance the relationship between the dac and the nfvf. 
this will ultimately improve service delivery by the nfvf.

an sla is a tool that can be used to clarify the roles and 
responsibilities of both the nfvf and dac. the basis of 
the sla is the nfvf act. on the other hand, the nfvf 
act provides for two types of regulations. section 21(1) 
regulations are those that may be prescribed by council 
subject to the minister’s approval regarding the procedure 
of council meetings and code of conduct for members 
of council and advisory panel. section 21(2) regulations 
are those that may be developed by the minister which 
may be necessary in order to achieve the objectives of 
the nfvf act.

in november 2008, dac led by the director general, mr. 
themba Wakashe held a two day workshop with nfvf 
management. it was agreed that an sla was important 
from a performance and reporting perspective.  the sla 
will include duties and obligations as mapped out in the 
nfvf act and 3 year strategy that is submitted to the 
dac including contact persons for specific areas as well 
as communication protocols. 

the nfvf regulations in progress are a mix of section 21 
(1) and subsection (2) respectively. the provision includes 
the appointment of council, funding, co-production 
administration, sale of nfvf services, relationship 
with government departments and cinema levies. the 
imposition of cinema levies is an important aspect that 
requires regulation. 
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background

the corporate governance principles and practice of the 
nfvf are based on relevant legislation (incorporating the 
national film and video foundation act, as amended 
by the cultural laws amendment act, 36 of 2001, the 
public finance management act, 1 of 1999), and take 
into account the protocol on corporate governance in the 
public sector, notice 637 of 2002, as well as the King 
report on corporate governance in south africa, 2002 
(“King report”).

in terms of section 6 of the act, the nfvf functions under 
the guidance of a council, appointed by the minister of 
arts and culture. the council bears primary responsibility 
for discharging the statutory mandate of the nfvf as set 
out in the act. the chief executive officer, management 
and staff exist to support the council in executing its 
responsibilities.

the nfvf recognises the significance of good governance 
in the public sector, which is crucial for effective public 
services and improved social outcomes. the nfvf is 
committed to ensuring good governance throughout 
the organisation by observing the principles of the King 
report, where possible, within the parameters of public 
sector legislation. all employees and council members of 
the nfvf are expected to conduct the affairs of the nfvf 
in accordance with the law, and the spirit of the corporate 
governance principles and practices, which requires a 
separation of organisational and private interests and the 
adoption of ethical standards of business.

the council and management of the nfvf ensures that 
its processes and practices are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis in order to ensure adherence to good corporate 
governance practices, which are continually benchmarked 
against international practices.

the council and management believe that the organisation 
has substantially applied and complied with the principles 
incorporated in the code of corporate practices and 
conduct as set out in the King report on corporate 
governance for south africa 2002, as well as the protocol 
on corporate governance in the public sector 2002.

year in review

during the financial year ended 31 march 2010, the 
nfvf’s internal auditors, sizwentsaluba, conducted the 
following internal audits:

•	 marketing and communications
•	 financial discipline review
•	 funding
•	 auditor general and internal audit follow up review

no significant findings were reported on any of the above 
audits.

a risk assessment Workshop was also conducted with 
audit committee members and the executive management 
team on the 3rd march 2010 to review and update the 
nfvf risk register.
based on the outcomes of the risk assessment, a 3 year 
rolling internal audit plan was drafted,  presented and 
approved at the audit committee on the 14th april 2010.

in accordance with the nfvf act 73 of 1997, four council 
meetings were held on the 16th July 2009, 15th october 
2009, 8th december 2009 and 25th february 2010.

in accordance with its charter, three audit committee 
meetings were held on the 14th July 2009, 24th november 
2009 and 14th april 2010.

human resources committee

the hr committee is the sub-committe of the council. 
the principal purpose of the committee  is to assist 
council in developing and determining hr policies; 
review organiationsal structure and review annual salary 
increments and benefits. 

hr committee members and 
attendance

the hr committee consists of 4 members. the committee 
is required to meet at least twice a year.  

Name of Member    
mr. david bensusan (chairperson)
prof. pitika ntuli - council member  
ms. sandra gordon - council member  
ms. matlhodi ngwenya – ex-officio member 

7. corporate governance report
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huMan resourCe ManageMent

8.1  human resources strategy

in line with the new strategic thrust of “consolidation and 
taking nfvf to the  people”the hr strategy was revised 
to be in line with the nfvf strategic direction. the strategy 
focuses on the strategies below. 

the strategy focused of the following Key areas:
•	 organisational design
•	 talent management
•	 employee development
•	 communications
•	 employee Wellness
•	 organisational culture
•	 promoting the nfvf

8.2  performance management

the success of the nfvf in delivering its operational and 
developmental goals depends largely on the effectiveness 
and efficiency with which its employees carry out their 
tasks.  a performance management system is a key tool 
to monitor and manage employee and organisational 
performance. 

the focal point of the nfvf’s performance management 
framework is to give guidelines on how the nfvf evaluates 
individual employee performance and is also utilised 
to generate appropriate solutions and responses to the 
employee’s developmental needs. 

the performance management framework consists of the 
following;
•	 performance management process
•	 nfvf performance management system
•	 roles and responsibilities
•	 guidelines on how to deal with non performance
•	 rewarding of exceptional performance
•	 dispute resolution

8.3 training

the nfvf finds itself in a unique situation where the skills 
and knowledge required to deliver on the mandate are not 
readily available in the open labour markdet. it therefore 
becomes incumbent upon  the organisation to develop 
these skills internally. this goes a long way in ensuring that 
the nfvf retains human capital and institutional memory. 
as a result, the following strategies were developed and 
implemented:

Talent Management
the purpose of the talent management strategy is to 
ensure operational continuity and sustainability of the 
nfvf through ensuring that the right people, with the 
right skills, are in the right role, at the right time therefore 
enabling successful business and succession planning is 
an integral part of the talent management process that 
is completed on an annual basis that outlines future 
roles incumbents for key leadership positions and other 
mission critical positions. 

talent management is a strategic driver and an annual 
business process in relation to strategic reviews, business 
planning, budget reviews and performance/reward 
reviews. 

the primary objective of talent management is to build 
individual capability within the organisation in response to 
the organisational capability requirements associated with 
strategic and business goals.

Retention Policy
in the endeavour to ensure that skills are retained, the 
nfvf developed a retention policy. the policy sets out 
the basic principles according to which the organisation 
will attempt to retain and develop its valuable “human 
capital. the retention policy covers the following tactics 
and strategies: staff development; remuneration; personal 
life events; environment and infrastructure; workplace 
relations; communications and termination management. 

8. human resource management
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OCCUPATION LEVEL FILLED BLACK WHITE

M F M F

top  management 1 1 - - -

senior management 6 2 4 - -

middle management and experienced 
specialists

4 1 3 - -

Junior management / supervisor and 
high level skilled

13 3 8 - 2

lower level and semi-skilled/clerical 1 - 1 - -

very low skilled 1 - 1 - -

TOTAL 26 7 17 - 2

27% 65% 0% 8%

Mentorship Programme
in line with the philosophy of promoting and developing 
human capital from within, a mentorship programme was 
developed. to date four individuals were successfully 
put on the programme which includes among others a 
psychometric assessement; training plan which includes 
both formal and informal training.

8.4  remuneration

the hr committee took a resolution that salary increases 
will be based on the dpsa and performance management 
review scores. the nfvf is committed to the principle 
of equity in terms of remuneration. the nfvf strives to 
remunerate employees at competitive salary scales. in 
2008 the organisation commissioned a salary survey in 
order to benchmark the salaries offered to employees.  in 
addition the nfvf has a provident fund incorporating 
group life, retirement annuity and disability cover for 
all employees as well as a comprehensive medical aid 
scheme which were introduced in 2003. 

in order to ensure transparency and inclusivity, the 
nfvf appointed a management committee whose sole 
responsibility is to monitor and make decisions regarding the 
management of the provident fund. the committee is made 
up of equal representation of   management and staff. 

8.5 staff compliment

during the period under review (01 april 2009 – 31 march 
2010), 1 employee resigned and 5 new employees were 
appointed. in the last 10 years the nfvf staff grew from 
a staff compliment of 11 to the present staff compliment 
of 26. 

in the last decade, the organisational structure also saw 
major transformation from having three departments to 6. 
this saw the nfvf having a flatter structure, allowing the 
organisation to maximize on  the expertise and skills that 
existed within.

8.6 employment equity and 
Workplace diversity

the nfvf places a high priority on employment equity 
as part of its transformation agenda, and is continuously 
striving to meet its equity targets in terms of race and 
gender. the table below indicates the nfvf’s race and 
gender representivity: 
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audit CoMMittee report

We are pleased to present our report for the financial year 
ended 31 march 2010.

audit committee responsibility

the audit committee has complied with its responsibilities 
arising from the treasury regulations for public entities as 
issued by the public finance management act (pfma), 
1999, as amended. the audit committee has adopted 
an appropriate formal audit committee charter, which 
has been confirmed by the council of the nfvf, and has 
regulated its affairs in compliance with this charter and 
has discharged all its responsibilities as contained therein.

audit committee members and attendance:

the audit committee consists of the members listed 
hereunder and have met the required 3 times per annum 
as per its approved charter. during the year under review 
(2009/2010), the committee met on 14th July 2009, 24th 
november 2009 and 14th april 2010.

Name of Member    
mr glynn o’leary – external member (chairperson)
mr motsamai Karedi – external member   
mr chris mullin – external member    
ms neo sowazi – council member    
ms nadia bulbulia – council member   
  

the effectiveness of internal control 

the system of internal controls is designed to provide 
cost effective assurance that assets are safeguarded and 
liabilities and working capital are efficiently managed. in 
line with the pfma and the King ii report on corporate 
governance requirements, internal audit provides the 
audit committee and management with assurance that 
the internal controls are appropriate and effective. this 
is achieved by means of the risk management process, 
as well as the identification of corrective actions and 
suggested enhancements to the controls and processes. 
from the various reports of the internal auditors, the audit 

report on the annual financial statements of the auditor-
general, it was noted that no significant or material non 
compliance with prescribed policies and procedures have 
been reported. accordingly, we can report that the system 
of internal control for the period under review was efficient 
and effective. 

evaluation of financial statements

the audit committee has:
•	 reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial 

statements of the nfvf to be included in the annual 
report, with the auditor-general and the accounting 
officer;

•	 reviewed the auditor-general’s management letter and 
management’s response thereto;

the committee is satisfied that these statements comply, 
in all material respects, with the requirements of the 
pfma, 1999, as amended, and south african statements 
of generally recognised accounting practice.

G O’LEARY
chairperson of the audit committee

9. audit committee report
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annuaL FinanCiaL stateMents
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report on the financial statements

introduction

i have audited the accompanying financial statements of the national film and video foundation, which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 march 2010, and the statement of financial performance, statement of changes 
in net assets and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information, as set out on pages 68 to 92.

accounting authority’s responsibility for the financial statements

the accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with the south african standards of generally recognised accounting practice (sa standards of grap) and in the 
manner required by the public finance management act, 1999 (act no. 1 of 1999)(pfma). this responsibility includes: 
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

auditor-general’s responsibility

as required by section 188 of the constitution of south africa and section 4 of the public audit act of south africa, 2004 
(act no. 25 of 2004) (paa), my responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit.

i conducted my audit in accordance with international standards on auditing and general notice 1570 of 2009 issued in 
government gazette 32758 of 27 november 2009. those standards require that i comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. the procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. in making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. an audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

i believe that the audit evidence i have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

report of the auditor-general to parliament on the financial
statements of the national film and video foundation for the 
year ended 31 march 2010

report oF the auditor-generaL
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opinion

in my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the national film 
and video foundation as at 31 march 2010, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with the sa standards of grap, and in the manner required by the pfma.

report on other legal and regulatory reQuirements

in terms of the paa of south africa and general notice 1570 of 2009, issued in government gazette no. 32758 of 27 
november 2009 i include below my findings on the report on predetermined objectives, compliance with the pfma and 
financial management (internal control).

findings
Predetermined objectives
no matters to report.

Compliance with laws and regulations
no matters to report

internal control
i considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements and the report on predetermined objectives 
and compliance with the pfma, but not for the purposes of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control. 
the matters reported below are limited to the deficiencies identified during the audit.

Leadership
no matters to report.

Financial and performance management
no matters to report.

Governance
no matters to report.

Johannesburg
22 July 2010

Auditing 10 build public confidence
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aCCounting authority report

1 introduction

the accounting authority presents the report that forms part of the audited annual financial statements of the 
organisation for the year ended 31 march 2010.

the national film and video foundation is established in terms of the national film and video foundation 
(nfvf) act no. 73 of 1997 and is listed as a national public entity in schedule 3a of the public finance 
management act, 1999, as amended, (pfma).

the council act as the accounting authority of the nfvf, in terms of the pfma.

2 directors of the entity

Executive director:
mr Ke mbalo (chief executive officer)

Non-executive directors (council):
ms c mampane (chairperson)
mr m ngonyama (deputy chairperson)
ms n sowazi
mr m rosin
ms s gordon
mr m smit
mr m mphomela
ms n bulbulia
mr s bhembe
mr d bensusan
prof p ntuli
adv. r solomon

council member ms a lebethe resigned on 11 august 2009

national film and video foundation 
accounting authority report for the year ended 31 march 2010
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aCCounting authority report

3  organisational structure
the organisation currently employs 26 permanent staff including the chief executive officer and 6 executive 
managers. 5 additional staff members were employed during the year, and 1 employee resigned.

REMUNERATION FOR THE YEAR
Non-executive directors’ Council

Council Member Amount Number of Meetings attended

council 
4 meetings 

exco 
0 meetings 

hr
1 meeting

ms c mampane(chairperson) r 15 000 3

mr m ngonyama r 20 000 4

ms n sowazi r   5 000 1

mr m rosin r 20 000 4

ms s gordon r 23 000 4 1

mr m smit r 15 000 3

mr m mphomela r 20 000 4

ms n bulbulia r 15 000 3

mr s bhembe r 10 000 2

mr d bensusan r 23 000 4 1

prof p ntuli r 23 000 4 1

adv r solomon r 20 000 4

Audit Committee

Audit Committee member Amount No of meetings attended

audit 
2 meetings 

other
1 meeting

mr g o’leary (chairperson) r 9 000 2 1

mr c mullin r 6 000 2

mr m Karedi r 3 000 1

ms n sowazi r 3 000 1 1

ms n bulbulia r 6 000 1
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aCCounting authority report

Executive Management:

 basic salary  bonus  allowances  contributions  total
ceo  916 605  76 384  12 000  127 678  1 132 667
cfo 623 803  51 984  6 000  - 681 787
head: marketing  395 059  29 596  6 000  47 663  478 318
head: policy & research  429 256  35 771  6 000  52 349  523 376
head: human resources  459 443  39 952  6 000  61 389  566 783
head: new ventures  471 372  39 281  6 000  19 368  536 021
head: production & development  456 645  38 054  6 000  45 664  546 363

4 going concern

the council and management of the foundation are of the opinion that the organisation will continue as a going 
concern in the foreseeable future.

5  principal activities

the principal activities of the organisation during the year comprise support to the film and video industry 
through the granting of funds for the development and production of film projects, the granting of bursaries and 
support of training initiatives, and the marketing and promotion of film and video projects.

6  operating results

the deficit of the organisation for the year was r 359 179 (2009 deficit: r 509 424)

7  revieW of operations

Revenue
revenue comprises funding received from government, sponsors and other stakeholders.
the decrease in revenue is attributable to a decrease in funds received from various sponsors for the support of 
initiatives such as the south african film and television awards (safta), miptv, mipcom and cannes.

Operating expenses
1 staff members resigned and 5 new staff members were employed during the current financial year.
the organisation hosted the third annual south african film and television awards (safta) in february 2010. 
the foundation partnered with sabc and m-net to attend the miptv markets in cannes, france and also 
partnered with the department of trade and industry to attend the cannes film festival in cannes france.

national film and video foundation
accounting authority report for the year ended 31 march 2010



CELEBRATING

nfvf annual report | 71

aCCounting authority report

8  events subseQuent to statement of financial position date

the accounting authority is not aware of any matters or circumstances arising since the end of the
financial year, not otherwise dealt with in the annual financial statements, which significantly affect the
financial position of the organisation or the results of its operations.

9  auditors

the office of the auditor general will continue in accordance with section 58(1 )(a) of the pfma

10  addresses

the entity’s business, postal and registered addresses are as follows:

business address / domicile: postal address:  registered address:
87 central street   private bag X04  87 central street
houghton   northlands  houghton
2198    2116   2198
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stateMent oF FinanCiaL position

Note 2010 2010 2009 2009

Actual  Budget Actual  Budget 

R R R  R 

ASSETS

Non Current Assets 1,974,431  1,135,560 1,021,972  958,560 

plant and equipment 3 1,718,773  939,000 825,412  762,000 

intangible assets 4 59,098  -  -  - 

rental deposit 196,560  196,560 196,560  196,560 

Current Assets 15,333,361  13,669,440 14,218,188  12,096,440 

cash and cash equivalents 13 12,469,266  9,866,000 9,033,516  7,793,000 

trade and other receivables 5 1,429,279  3,803,440 1,859,960  4,303,440 

prepayments 1,434,816  - 3,324,712  - 

TOTAL ASSETS 17,307,792  14,805,000 15,240,160  13,055,000 

LIABILITIES

accumulated surplus 1,550,979  346,513 1,910,158  2,355,000 

Current Liabilities 15,756,813  14,458,487 13,330,002  10,700,000 

trade and other payables 6.1  651,318  950,000  1,135,668  400,000 

operating lease liability 15.2  583,527 -  165,769  - 

provisions 6.2  14,521,968  13,508,487  12,028,565  10,300,000 

deferred income 6.3  -  -  -  - 

TOTAL NET ASSETS 17,307,792  14,805,000 15,240,160  13,055,000 

national film and video foundation
statement of financial position as at 31 march 2010
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stateMent oF FinanCiaL perForManCe

national film and video foundation
statement of financial performance  for the year ended 
31 march 2010

Note 2010 2010 2009 2009

Actual Budget Actual Budget

R R R R

revenue 7  42,952,752  39,236,000  49,256,928  40,095,000 

grant expense 8  (28,535,866)  (26,092,000)  (36,451,780)  (27,680,000)

Gross profit  14,416,886  13,144,000  12,805,148  12,415,000 

operating expenses 9  (15,581,771)  (15,427,645)  (14,251,990)  (13,108,000)

Deficit from operations  (1,164,885)  (2,283,645)  (1,446,842)  (693,000)

investment income 10  805,706  720,000  937,418  720,000 

(Deficit) / surplus for the year  (359,179)  (1,563,645)  (509,424)  27,000 



CELEBRATING

74 | nfvf annual report

stateMent oF Change in net assets

national film and video foundation
statement of change in net assets for the year ended 
31 march 2010

Accumulated

surplus Total

R R

Balance as at 31 March 2008 (Restated)  2,419,582  2,419,582 

deficit for the year  (509,424)  (509,424)

Balance as at 31 March 2009  1,910,158  1,910,158 

deficit for the year  (359,179)  (359,179)

Balance as at 31 March 2010  1,550,979  1,550,979 
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Cash FLow stateMent

national film and video foundation
cash floW statement for the year ended 31 march 2010

Note 2010 2010 2009 2009

Actual  Budget Actual  Budget 

R R R  R 

Cash flows from operating activities

cash generated from / (utilised in) operations 11  4,054,672  2,610,842  (553,246)  (1,627,000)

interest income 10  805,706  720,000  937,418  720,000 

 4,860,377  3,330,842  384,172  (907,000)

Cash flows used in investing activities

purchase of plant and equipment 12  (1,359,713)  (1,257,842)  (370,498)  (319,000)

purchase of intangible assets 4  (65,664)  -  -  - 

proceeds on disposal of plant and equipment 7  750  -  -  - 

 (1,424,627)  (1,257,842)  (370,498)  (319,000)

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 

 3,435,750  2,073,000  13,674  (1,226,000)

cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 
the year

 9,033,516  7,793,000  9,019,842  9,019,000 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 13  12,469,266  9,866,000  9,033,516  7,793,000 



CELEBRATING

76 | nfvf annual report

notes to the annuaL FinanCiaL stateMents

national film and video foundation
notes to the annual financial statements for the year ended 
31 march 2010

1. Basis of preparation 
the annual financial statements of the foundation have been prepared in accordance with the effective south african 
standards of generally recognised  accounting practice (sa standards of grap) including any interpretations, guidelines 
and directives issued by the accounting standards board     
   
2. Summary of significant accounting policies      
the following are the principal accounting policies of the foundation which are, in all material respects, consistent with 
those applied in the previous year.  the annual financial statements of the foundation have been prepared on the historical 
cost and going concern basis.       
 
2.1 Significant accounting estimates and judgements     
in preparing the annual financial statements, management has made estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 
presented in the annual financial statements and related disclosures. use of available information and the application of 
judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. actual results in the future could differ from these estimates which 
may be material to the annual financial statements. significant estimates and judgements include: 

Estimates        
Provisions
provisions were raised and management determined an estimate based on the information available.  additional disclosure 
of these estimates of  provisions is included in note 6.2 to the annual financial statements.    
    
Plant and equipment
management has made certain estimates with regards to the determination of estimated useful lives and residual values 
of items of property, plant and equipment.

Judgements
Leases      
management has applied judgment to classify all lease agreements that the foundation is party to as operating leases if 
the lease do not transfer substantially all risks and rewards of ownership to the foundation, or the other recognition criteria 
is met in terms of grap to classify leases as operating leases.     
   
2.2 Revenue
revenue is recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the foundation and when the amount 
can be measured reliably. revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received.   
     
revenue comprises of income from the department of arts and culture (dac), the department of trade & industry (dti), 
and other sources. 

Government grants
government grants received by the foundation relates to financial support that the foundation receives as a public entity in 
order to carry out its mandate. all government grants are recognised in the statement of financial performance for the year 
to which they relate.
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Deferred income 
government grants are recorded as deferred income when they become receivable and are then recognised as income
on a  systematic basis over the period  necessary to match the grants with the related costs which they are intended to 
compensate.       
      
Interest Income
interest income is recognised as part of investment income using the effective interest method.   
     
2.3 Plant and equipment      
plant and equipment are shown at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment. costs include costs
incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of plant and equipment and cost incurred subsequently to add to, replace 
part of, or service it.        
 
plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight line method at rates which are estimated to write off each asset over 
its useful life, as follows:        
        
computer hardware 33.33% p.a  
furniture and fittings 10% - 16.67% p.a  
computer software 50.00% p.a  
office equipment 16.67% p.a  
motor vehicles 20.00% p.a  
         
the residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed at the end of each financial year and adjusted if 
appropriate. any change resulting from  the review is treated as a change in accounting estimate. depreciation commences  
when the asset is available for use. valuations to plant and equipment are performed bi-annually to ensure that the fair 
value does not differ materially from its carrying amount.        
         
all gains or losses arising on the disposal of scrapping of plant and equipment are recognised in the statement of financial 
performance in the period of disposal or scrapping. repairs and maintenance are charges to the statement of financial  
performance when the expenditure is incurred.        
 
2.4 Intangible assets      
intangible assets are identifiable assets without physical substance. no intangible asset is recognised arising from 
research. the foundation’s intangible assets are shown at cost less accumulated amortisation. intangible assets are 
amortised over its estimated useful life, using the straight line method and is calculated to reduce the original costs to the 
expected residual values over the estimated useful lives.      
     
the amortisation rates are as follows: 
intangible assets 10.00% p.a   
         
the amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed bi-annually. 
useful lives and residual values are assessed bi-annually.
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2.5 Non-current assets 
there were no major changes in the nature of the non-current assets of the foundation, nor to its policy regarding its use 
during the year under review.       
  
2.6 Financial instruments      
a financial instrument is defined as a contract that gives rise to a financial asset in one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument in another entity. financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial 
position when the foundation becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  financial instruments 
recognised on the statement of financial position include trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade 
and other payables      
 
Trade and other receivables       
trade and other receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value,and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method less any impairment. impairment is determined on a specific basis, whereby 
each asset is individually assessed for impairment indicators.     
    
Cash and cash equivalents         
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and deposits held at banks. cash and cash equivalents are initially 
and subsequently measured  at amortised cost.         
        
Trade and other payables         
trade and other payables are measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method.         
         
Impairment of financial instruments         
the foundation assesses on each statement of financial position date whether a financial asset of the foundation is 
impaired. impairments are made when there is objective evidence that cash flows from specific financial assets would not 
materialise. cash flow values estimated not to materialise are impaired. the amount of the impairment is measured as the 
difference between the financial asset’s carrying amount and the present value of  estimated future cash flows discounted 
at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition. the amount of the impairment is recognised in the statement 
of financial performance.         
         
Derecognition of financial instruments         
Financial assets         
financial assets (or part thereof) are derecognised when the foundation realises the rights to benefits specified in the 
contract, the right expires, or the foundation surrenders or otherwise loses control of the contractual rights that comprise 
the financial asset.

Financial liabilities      
financial liabilities (or part thereof) are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled 
or expired.       
      
Off-setting of financial instruments      
financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off financial assets against 
financial liabilities and the  financial instrument relate to the same foundation. 
       
  

notes to the annuaL FinanCiaL stateMents
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2.7 Provisions       
provisions were raised and management determined an estimate based on the information available. a provision is a 
liability of uncertain timing or  amount. provisions are recognised when the foundation has a present obligation as a result 
of a past event and it is probable that this will result in an outflow of economic  benefits that can be estimated reliably.  
  
additional disclosure of these estimates of provisions are included in note 6.2 to the annual  financial statements.   
 
the amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation. 
contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised as provisions as they do not comply with the recognition 
criteria.      
 
2.8 Taxation
no provision has been made for income tax as the foundation is exempted in terms of section 10(1) (ca) (1) of the income 
tax act, 1962 (act no. 58 of 1962).      
    
2.9 Comparative figures
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.  
       
2.10 Presentation currency  
amounts in the annual financial statements are presented and disclosed in south african rand, and are rounded to the 
nearest south african rand.      
 
2.11 Employee Benefits
short-term employee benefits are recognised during the period in which the employee renders the related service. the 
foundation operates a defined retirement contribution plan for its employees and is not liable for any actuarial losses 
sustained by the fund. accordingly, no provision has been made  for any such losses and contributions paid are expensed.
 
2.12 Related Parties
all related party transaction that are entered into by the foundation are disclosed in the annual financial statements
   
2.13 Irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure      
irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in contravention of, or not in accordance with, a requirement of any 
applicable legislation, including:       
    
- the pfma, or       
- any provincial legislation providing for procurement procedures in that provincial government.   
 
fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expenditure made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care 
been exercised. all irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure is charged against income in the period in which they 
are incurred.       
  
2.14 Leases      
a lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership. operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. the 
difference between the amounts  recognised as an expense and the contractual payments is recognised as an operating 
lease asset or liability. this liability is not discounted. additional disclosure of operating leases is included in note 15 of the 
annual financial statements.    
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2.15 Impairment of assets       
the foundation assesses at each statement of financial performance date whether there is any indication that an asset 
may  be impaired. if  any such  indication exists, the foundation estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.  
       
if there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. if it 
is  not possible to estimate the  recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset belongs is determined. if the  recoverable amount of an asset is less  than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. that reduction  is an impairment loss.   
 
an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately 
in the statement of financial performance. any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease. an 
entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods 
may no longer exist or may  have decreased. if any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those  assets are 
estimated. the increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 
periods.      
 
3. Plant and equipment      

R R R R R R 

 Computer 
 hardware 

 Furniture & 
 fittings 

 Computer 
 software 

 Motor  
 Vehicles 

 Office 
 equipment 

 Total 

Net book value at 1 April 2008  139,890  562,063  37,800  167,764  71,955  979,472 

additions  307,994  25,117  -  -  37,387  370,498 

Write-offs  11,259  -  -  -  -  11,259 

depreciation  131,814  280,835  34,061  36,603  29,986  513,299 

Net book value at 31 March 2009  304,811  306,345  3,739  131,161  79,356  825,412 

      

cost as at 31 march 2009  1,189,636  1,983,071  526,015  183,015  350,934  4,232,671 

accumulated depreciation  884,825  1,676,726  522,276  51,854  271,578  3,407,259 

Net book value at 31 March 2009  304,811  306,345  3,739  131,161  79,356  825,412 

 R  R  R  R  R  R 

 Computer 
 hardware 

 Furniture & 
 fittings 

 Computer 
 software 

 Motor  
 Vehicles 

 Office 
 equipment 

 Total 

Net book value at 1 April 2009  304,811  306,345  3,739  131,161  79,356  825,412 

additions  108,964  198,539  194,388  -  4,988  506,879 

Work-in-progress  -  852,834  -  -  -  852,834 

Write-offs  -  -  -  -  -  - 

depreciation  200,184  118,227  84,734  36,603  26,604  466,352 

Net book value at 31 March 2010  213,591  1,239,491  113,393  94,558  57,740  1,718,773 

cost as at 31 march 2010  525,482  3,034,444  720,403  183,015  355,922  4,819,266 

accumulated depreciation  311,891  1,794,953  607,010  88,457  298,182  3,100,493 

Net book value at 31 March 2010  213,591  1,239,491  113,393  94,558  57,740  1,718,773 

there were no impairment to plant and equipment during the year (2009:nil).    
   

notes to the annuaL FinanCiaL stateMents
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4. Intangible assets

2010 2009
R R

Net book value at the beginning of the year - - 
additions 65,664 - 
Write-offs / impairment - - 
amortisation 6,566 - 
Net book value at the end of the year 59,098 - 

Reconciliation
Cost as at the beginning of the year 65,664 - 
accumulated amortisation 6,566 - 
Net book value at the end of the year 59,098 - 

there were no impairment to intangible assets during the year (2009:nil).
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notes to the annuaL FinanCiaL stateMents

5. Trade and other receivables 

2010 2009

R R

short end pictures - 20,547 

sabc: sediba, fespaco , miptv & safta 1,200,000 323,992 

staff loans 7,340  926 

dac 211,774  476,943 

dti  -  906,937 

mnet  -  89,609 

film & publications board  10,165  41,006 

sithengi  -  - 

initial recognition  -  1,500,000 

less: impairment of receivables balance  -  (1,500,000)

 1,429,279  1,859,960 
     
    
a loan to sithengi  has been granted on the 11th of august 2006 of r5 000 000.00.  a provision for the impairment of this 
debt was made at 31 march 2008. the loan was written off in march 2010.    
    
disclosed as part of trade receivables is an impairment of trade receivables of r0 (2009: r1 500 000).   
       

  R  R  R  R  R R

1-30 days 31-60 days  61-90 days  91-120 days  120+ days  Total 

2010

gross trade receivables  17,505  -  1,200,000  -  1,711,774 2,929,279 

Write-off of trade 
receivables

-  -  -  -  (1,500,000)  (1,500,000)

Nett trade receivables  17,505  -  1,200,000  -  211,774  1,429,279 

2009

gross trade receivables  410,062  122,414  -  -  2,827,484  3,359,960 

impairment of trade 
receivables

 -  -  -  -  (1,500,000)  (1,500,000)

Nett trade receivables  410,062  122,414  -  -  1,327,484  1,859,960 

national film and video foundation
notes to the annual financial statements for the year ended
31 march 2010
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6.1 Trade and other payables

2010 2009

R R

medical aid accrual 61,937 37,045

provident fund accrual 87,571 - 

cashbook accruals 501,810 1,098,623

651,318 1,135,668
  

all trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on a 30 day term. 

2010 2009

R R

6.2 Provisions

6.2.1 Provision for grants issued by NFVF

Opening balance as at 01 April 2009 11,788,432 12,273,921

new grants issued (note 7) 28,535,866 36,451,780

payments made during the year (26,056,443) (36,937,269)

closing balance as at 31 march 2010 14,267,855  11,788,432

  

the foundation issues grants in the following categories: training and bursaries;

research and script development; production and distribution and marketing.

2010 2009

R R

6.2.2 Provision for leave pay

Opening balance as at 01 April 2009 240,133 220,982

utilised during the year (240,133) (220,982)

originated during the year 254,113 240,133

Closing balance as at 31 March 2010 254,113 240,133

 

a provision for leave is recognised for leave due to employees at year end and calculated using the bcea rates.  

the provision is expected to be realised within the following financial year when  the employees    

utilise the leave or resign.     

 

Total provisions 14,521,968  12,028,565 
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notes to the annuaL FinanCiaL stateMents

national film and video foundation
notes to the annual financial statements for the year ended
31 march 2010

2010 2009
R R

6.3 Deferred income
Department of Communications
Opening balance as at 01 April 2009 - 753,449
utilised during the year - (753,449)
Closing balance as at 31 March 2010 -  -

Department of Arts and Culture
Opening balance as at 01 April 2009 - 109,350 
utilised during the year - (109,350)
Closing balance as at 31 March 2010 -  -

Total deferred income -  -
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2010 2009
R R

7. Revenue
department of arts and culture - annual allocation 39,136,000 37,895,000
department of arts and culture - special projects - 564,184
department of arts and culture - bambatha documentary - 400,000
department of trade and industry 750,000 634,000
department of communications - ten commandments - 862,799
south african broadcasting corporation 1,575,000 7,173,787
m-net 350,000 745,301
south african film and television awards (safta) fees 6,609 69,851
gauteng film office 164,000 428,795
cape film commission 114,000 127,318
durban film office 114,000 96,016
film and publications board 9,500 210,000
avalon 75,775 -
the callsheet 5,318 - 
stitching freeway custody - tsotsi recoupment 4,405 - 
teaching screen productions - “uranium road” recoupment - 6,029
triggerfish animation- ZambeZia 100,000 - 
rogue star - spud 250,000 - 
neXt entertainment 133,031 - 
ikamva (golf day) 26,625 - 
mercury media 2,000 - 
producers programme participants 134,394 - 
profit on the sale of plant and equipment 750 21,291 
sale of sediba books 1,346 1,000
grant recovery from ikho productions - 10,000 
rialto film Week - 11,557

42,952,752 49,256,928

 

2010 2009

R R

8.Grants expense

training & bursaries 4,483,572 6,523,271

script development 1,900,122 2,007,191

production 6,859,009 6,310,605

research projects 540,255 576,239

distribution & marketing 14,752,908 21,034,474 

28,535,866 36,451,780 
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2010 2009
R R

9.Operating expenses
included in the operating expenses are the following:

audit fees 287,235 269,772

consulting services 669,303 810,624
internal audit fees 470,106 578,193
professional services - staff recruitment 40,897 101,947
Website expenses 158,300 130,484

councillor’s services
honorarium - council meetings 21.1  200,000  348,000

depreciation on plant and equipment and intangible assets 19  472,918 513,299
computer hardware 200,184 131,814
furniture & fittings 118,227 280,835
computer software 84,734 34,061
intangible assets 6,566 -
motor vehicles 36,603  36,603
office equipment 26,604  29,986

panelist fees 152,250  160,200
rent paid 2,319,455  1,437,698

salaries and wages 9,254,368  7,740,240
salaries and wages - executive management 21.2  4,465,316  3,110,353
salaries and wages - other staff 4,789,052  4,629,887

travel and accommodation 246,851  350,434

national film and video foundation
notes to the annual financial statements for the year ended
31 march 2010
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2010 2009
R R

10. Investment income
interest income 805,706  937,418 
loan - short end pictures -  3,689
loan - dv8 -  136,867
bank deposits 805,706  796,862

2010 2009
R R

11. Cash generated from / (utilised in) operations 4,054,672  (553,246)
deficit for the year (359,179)  (509,424)
interest income (805,706)  (937,418)
Adjustments for:
Write-off of plant and equipment -  11,259 
profit on the sale of plant and equipment (750)  - 
depreciation and amortisation on plant and equipment and intangible assets 472,918  513,299 
increase / (decrease) in operating lease 417,758  (10,504)
increase / (decrease) in provisions 2,493,403  (466,338)
Changes in working capital:
decrease in trade and other receivables 2,320,577  1,257,211 
(decrease) in trade and other creditors (484,350)  (411,331)

2010 2009
R R

12. Purchase of plant and equipment  (1,359,713)  (370,498)
furniture & fittings  (1,051,373)  (25,117)
office equipment  (4,988)  (37,387)
computer software  (194,388)  - 
computer hardware  (108,964)  (307,994)

2010 2009
R R

13. Cash and cash equivalents 12,469,266  9,033,516 
first national bank 312,240  466,253 
corporation for public deposits 12,155,026  8,565,263 
petty cash 2,000  2,000 

cash and cash equivalents earn interest at floating rates based on the daily bank deposits.    
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2010 2009
R R

14. Reconciliation of budget with statement of financial performance
net deficit per statement of financial performance (359,179)  - 
adjusted for
increase in revenue (3,802,457)  - 
timing differences 2,597,992  - 
net deficit per approved budget (1,563,645)  - 

2010 2009
R R

15. Lease arrangements
15.1 Operating lease commitments
at the statement of financial position date the foundation had outstanding commit-
ments which relates to various operating leases and falls due as follows:
up to 1 year 2,423,905  2,193,586 
2 to 5 years 7,761,411  10,185,316 

10,185,316  12,378,902 

Rental:
the building lease expired on 31 december 2008. the lease was renewed for a further 5 year term from 
01 January 2009 - 31 december 2013, 87 central properties allows for an annual escalation of 10% per annum.
the lease expense for the year ended 31 march 2010 is r 2 319 455.

National Samsung - PABX System
this is a 60 month contract allowing for 15% escalation fee annually.
the lease expense for the year ended 31 march 2010 is r 82 527.

National Samsung - Equipment
this is a 60 month contract allowing for 15% escalation fee annually. this lease was entered into on 
01 september 2008. the lease expense for the year ended 31 march 2010 is r 208 176
    

2010 2009
R R

15.2 Operating lease liability
583,527  165,769 

2010 2009
R R

16. Material losses through criminal conduct
the foundation incurred no material losses through criminal conduct -  - 
during the financial year under review.

national film and video foundation
notes to the annual financial statements for the year ended
31 march 2010
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2010 2009
R R

17. Irregular expenditure
the foundation incurred no irregular expenditure during the financial -  - 
year under review. -  - 

2010 2009
R R

18. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
the foundation incurred no fruitless and wasteful expenditure during -  - 
the financial year under review. -  - 

19. Change in accounting estimate
the useful life and residual values of plant and equipment were reviewed at 
31 march 2010 by an independent valuator.  
included in depreciation is a change in accounting estimate amounting to r89 350. 
this decrease in depreciation resulted  from the valuation done on furniture and 
fittings. 
the effect of the adjustment is as follows:

2010 2009
R R

dr accumulated depreciation on plant and equipment 89,350  - 
cr depreciation on plant and equipment (89,350)  - 

20. Related parties
during the year, the foundation entered into a related party transaction 
with the department of arts and culture. 2010 2009

R R
Amounts due by related parties
department of arts and culture 211,774  476,943
Amounts received from related parties
department of arts and culture 39,136,000  38,382,241 

all balances are unsecured, interest free, with no fixed terms of repayment and are recorded at fair values.

council members including sub-committees i.e. audit, human resources and exco only receive honorariums for
meetings attended. executive management is defined as employees who have the ability to direct and control the 
operations of the foundation. the nfvf executive management only receive remuneration for salaries. no loans have 
been advanced to the executive management during the financial year. there are no further payments expedited to
these members.     
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2010 2009
R R

21. Disclosure of remuneration
21.1 Non Executive Honorarium - council services 200,000  348,000
ms c mampane 15,000  34,000
mr m rosin 20,000  14,000
ms n sowazi 5,000  24,000
mr m ngonyama 20,000  41,000
ms a lebethe -  31,000
ms s gordon 20,000  20,000
mr m smit 15,000  25,000
mr m mphomela 20,000  30,000
ms n bulbulia 15,000  11,000
mr s bhembe 10,000  26,000
mr d bensusan 20,000  33,000
prof p ntuli 20,000  29,000
adv r solomon 20,000  30,000

     
  
21.2 Executive management salaries - 2010       

R R R R R 
Basic Salary Bonus Allowances  Contributions Total 

chief executive officer 916,605 76,384  12,000  127,678  1,132,667 
chief financial officer  623,803  51,984  6,000  -  681,787 
head: marketing  395,059  29,596  6,000  47,663  478,318 
head: policy & research  429,256  35,771  6,000  52,349  523,376 
head: human resources  459,443  39,952  6,000  61,389  566,784 
head: new ventures  471,372  39,281  6,000  19,368  536,021 
head: production and development  456,645  38,054  6,000  45,664  546,363 

 3,752,183  311,022  48,000  354,111  4,465,316 

Executive management salaries - 2009 R  R  R  R  R 
 Basic Salary  Bonus     Allowances   Contributions Total 

chief executive officer  810,068  271,023  12,000  129,462  1,222,553 
chief financial officer  552,087  46,507  6,000  7,009  611,603 
head: marketing (6 months)  285,043  30,597  6,000  25,283  346,923 
head: policy & research  312,272  28,278  4,000  68,658  413,208 
head: human resources  417,887  35,831  6,000  56,348  516,066 

 2,377,357  412,236  34,000  286,760  3,110,353 

      

national film and video foundation
notes to the annual financial statements for the year ended
31 march 2010
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22. Financial instruments
as at 31 march 2010, the carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
receivables and trade and other payables approximate their fair values due to the short term
maturities of these assets and liabilities as disclosed below.      
 
Financial assets    
cash and cash equivalents carrying value  12,469,266   9,033,516 
 fair value  12,469,266   9,033,516 

trade and other receivables carrying amount  2,864,095   5,184,672 
 fair value  2,864,095   5,184,672 

Financial liabilities    
trade and other payables carrying value  651,318   1,135,668 
 fair value  651,318   1,135,668 
    
operating lease liability carrying value  583,527   165,769 
 fair value  583,527   165,769

  
23. Financial risk management objectives and policies     
the main business risks faced by the foundation in respect of its principal non-derivative financial  
instruments are interest rate risk and liquidity risk. management reviews and agree controls for managing these 
risks. 

23.1 Interest rate risk   
the foundation’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the foundation’s cash and 
cash equivalents with floating interest rates. cash and cash equivalents attract interest at rates that vary with prime. 
the foundation manages its interest rate risk so that fluctuations invariable rates do not have a material impact on the 
surplus/(deficit) of the foundation. the foundation is not exposed to significant interest rate risk as the foundation does 
not have any external funding, other than cash and cash equivalents with the bank.     
   
the following sets out the carrying amount, of the foundation’s cash and cash equivalents that are exposed    
to interest rate risk:    
 

2010 2009
R R

Within1 year 12,469,266 9,033,516 
1 to 5 years  -  - 

 12,469,266  9,033,516 

the following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates to 
cash and cash equivalents, with all other variables held constant, to the foundation’s deficit. 

2010 2009
R R

increase in interest rate of 1% 113,243 72,518
decrease in interest rate of 0 .5 % (56,709) (35,757)
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23.2 Liquidity risk         
the foundation’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. the
foundation manages liquidity risk through ongoing review of future commitments. cash flow forecasts
are prepared regularly. the table below summarises the maturity profile of the foundation’s financial 
liabilities as at 31 march 2010. 
        

 R R R  R  R
Less than 3 months  3 -12 months  91-120 days  1 - 5 years  Total

2010
trade and other payables  -  -  -  -  - 

operating lease liability  -  -  -  583,527  583,527

Financial liability  -  -  -  583,527 583,527

2009
trade and other payables  -  -  -  -  -

operating lease liability  -  -  -  165,769  165,769

Financial liability  -  -  -  165,769  165,769

24. World Cup Expenditure  

2010 2009
Quantity R R

purchase of other world cup apparel
soccer t-shirts 26  13,520  - 

Total world cup expenditure 13,520  -

Tickets acquired after year-end 
(30 June 2010)

 -  -  -

Total  -  - 

national film and video foundation
notes to the annual financial statements for the year ended
31 march 2010
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